KATRIN VIIGAND

Utilization of α-glucosidic sugars by *Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha*







DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS **346**

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 346

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 346

KATRIN VIIGAND

Utilization of α-glucosidic sugars by *Ogataea* (*Hansenula*) *polymorpha*



Chair of Genetics, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation was accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (in Microbiology) on 18.06.2018 by the Council of the Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, University of Tartu.

Supervisor:	Associate Professor Tiina Alamäe, PhD
	Chair of Genetics
	Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology
	University of Tartu, Estonia
Opponent:	Associate Professor Štefan Janeček, PhD
	Institute of Molecular Biology
	Slovak Academy of Sciences
	Bratislava, Slovakia

Commencement: Room No 105, 23B Riia Street, Tartu, Estonia on September 28th, 2018, at 10:15.

Publication of this thesis is granted by the Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology, University of Tartu.

ISSN 1024-6479 ISBN 978-9949-77-832-4 (print) ISBN 978-9949-77-833-1 (pdf)

Copyright: Katrin Viigand, 2018

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	6
ABBREVIATIONS	7
INTRODUCTION	8
I OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE	9
1.1. Overview of methylotrophic yeasts with emphasis on Ogataea	
polymorpha	9
1.2. α-Glucosidic sugars in nature	10
1.3. MAL genes and clusters in yeasts	11
1.4 Transport of maltose and other α -glucosidic sugars into a yeast cell	12
1.5. Yeast α -glucosidases and their evolution	16
1.6. Regulation of the <i>MAL</i> genes and proteins in <i>S. cerevisiae</i> and some other yeasts	23
1.6.1. S <i>cerevisiae</i> : glucose sensing inactivation and	25
repression by glucose	24
1.6.2. <i>S. cerevisiae</i> : induction by maltose	25
1.6.3. Regulation in <i>O. polymorpha</i> and some other yeasts	26
II AIMS OF THE STUDY	28
III RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	29
3.1. The MAL cluster of O. polymorpha (Refs I and II)	29
3.2. The α-glucoside permease of <i>O. polymorpha</i> (Refs I, II and IV)	32
3.3. Regulation of the MAL genes in O. polymorpha (Refs I, II and III).	34
3.4. Substrate specificity of O. polymorpha maltase protein and	
its similarity to a hypothetical ancestor of yeast maltases and	
isomaltases (Ref IV)	37
CONCLUSIONS	42
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	43
REFERENCES	45
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	56
PUBLICATIONS	57
CURRICULUM VITAE	127
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	129

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

This dissertation is based on following original publications that are referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I. **Viigand, K.,** Tammus, K., Alamäe, T. (2005). Clustering of *MAL* genes in *Hansenula polymorpha*: Cloning of the maltose permease gene and expression from the divergent intergenic region between the maltose permease and maltase genes. FEMS Yeast Research, 5: 1019–1028.
- II. **Viigand, K**., Alamäe, T. (2007). Further study of the *Hansenula polymorpha MAL* locus: characterization of the α -glucoside permease encoded by the *HpMAL2* gene. FEMS Yeast Research, 7: 1134–1144.
- III. Suppi, S., Michelson, T., Viigand, K., Alamäe, T. (2013). Repression vs. activation of MOX, FMD, MPP1 and MAL1 promoters by sugars in Hansenula polymorpha: the outcome depends on cell's ability to phosphorylate sugar. FEMS Yeast Research, 13: 219–232.
- IV. Viigand, K.*, Visnapuu, T.*, Mardo, K., Aasamets, A., Alamäe, T. (2016). Maltase protein of *Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha* is a counterpart to resurrected ancestor protein ancMALS of yeast maltases and isomaltases. Yeast 33(8): 415–432. *Equal contribution

Journal articles are reprinted with the permission from copyright holders. My contribution to the articles referred to in this dissertation is following:

- Ref. I Carried out majority of the experiments, participated in data analysis and interpretation. Participated in writing the manuscript.
- Ref. II Carried out the experiments. Analyzed the data and participated in writing the manuscript.
- Ref. III Designed and performed the experiments, analyzed the data, participated in writing the manuscript.
- Ref. IV Constructed mutants Asp199Ala (D199A) and Thr200Val (T200V) of the *MAL1* gene, expressed the proteins in *E. coli*, investigated and compared the substrate specificity and kinetics of mutant and wildtype enzymes. Studied growth properties of *MAL1* and *MAL2* deletion mutants on α -glucosidic sugars. Designed and performed the experiments, analyzed the data, participated in writing the manuscript.

ABBREVIATIONS

aa	_	amino acids
α-MG	_	α -methylglucoside/methyl- α -D-glucopyranoside
bp	_	base pairs
CAZy	_	Carbohydrate-Active enZYmes Database
CCCP	_	carbonyl cyanide-m-chlorophenylhydrazone
DSF	_	differential scanning fluorimetry
GH	_	Glycoside Hydrolase (Family)
IMOs	_	isomalto-oligosaccharides
Ki	_	inhibition constant
K _m	_	Michaelis constant
NCBI	-	National Center for Biotechnology Information (https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/)
Ор	_	Ogataea polymorpha (previous name Hansenula polymorpha)
OpMAL1	-	<i>O. polymorpha</i> maltase encoded by <i>OpMAL1</i> (previous designation HpMAL1)
OpMAL2	-	<i>O. polymorpha</i> α-glucoside permease encoded by <i>OpMAL2</i> (previous designation HpMAL2)
PDB	_	Protein Data Bank (https://www.rcsb.org/)
PNPG	_	p-nitrophenyl-α-D-glucopyranoside
Sc	_	Saccharomyces cerevisiae
SGD	_	Saccharomyces Genome Database (https://www.yeastgenome.org)
UAS	_	upstream activating sequence

INTRODUCTION

Sugars are extremely abundant in nature and are the preferred energy sources for yeasts. Yeasts prefer glucose to more complex sugars (sucrose, maltose and many others) down-regulating their utilization if glucose is present at sufficiently high concentration. Respective regulatory mechanism is called glucose repression. Utilization of a-glucosidic disaccharides such as maltose and sucrose has been extensively studied in baker's yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae because baking, brewing and production of bioethanol mostly relies on these sugars as fermentation substrates. Repression of maltose and sucrose utilization by glucose in S. cerevisiae was among the first models in yeast glucose repression studies (Gancedo, 1998; Zimmermann and Scheel, 1977). About 20 years ago, Tiina Alamäe's research group chose a non-conventional methylotrophic yeast Ogataea polymorpha (earlier Hansenula polymorpha) as an alternative yeast model to study glucose repression mechanisms. Methanol utilization in yeasts is very strongly repressed by sugars (Sibirny et al., 1988). As O. polymorpha also assimilates disaccharides maltose and sucrose, study of this yeast was expected to show light on glucose repression mechanisms in this yeast by addressing regulation of these two specific glucose-repressed metabolic processes. As O. polymorpha diverged from the main evolution line of yeasts much earlier than S. cerevisiae (see Ref IV), glucose repression mechanisms of this yeast were expected to differ from those shown for *Saccharomyces*.

These studies led to assay of genetics, genomics and biochemistry of disaccharides metabolism in *O. polymorpha*. Most of the results of this work is presented in this dissertation. The obtained data was compared with those available for *S. cerevisiae* and some other yeasts and a hypothesis on regulation of *MAL* (maltose-related) genes in *O. polymorpha* was proposed. Though this work mostly contributes to basic science, some of the results have a biotechnological value as well. So, the bidirectional promoter in the *MAL* gene cluster can be used for regulated co-expression of two genes (proteins) of interest. It is also interesting that *O. polymorpha MAL1* promoter is perfectly recognized not only in another yeast *S. cerevisiae*, but also in a bacterium *Escherichia coli*, and has already been used for heterologous overexpression in *E. coli* of a biotechnologically relevant protein – levansucrase.

I OVERVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

1.1. Overview of methylotrophic yeasts with emphasis on *Ogataea polymorpha*

Methylotrophic yeasts are able to grow on methanol as a sole carbon source. Currently the following five yeast genera belong to methylotrophs: *Candida*, *Pichia*, *Ogataea*, *Kuraishia* and *Komagataella* (Limtong *et al.*, 2008; Yurimoto *et al.*, 2011 and references therein).

Methylotrophic yeasts are found in decaying fruits, juice and other vegetable products, on plant leaves, in plant exudates, soil and insect gut (Limtong *et al.*, 2008; Morais *et al.*, 2004; Negruță *et al.*, 2010) as these habitats provide methanol. Methanol that results from the turnover of cell-wall pectin is emitted by living plant leaves (Keppler *et al.*, 2006; Nemecek-Marshall *et al.*, 1995), it is also released in the soil at degradation of pectin and lignin of plant residues (Nakagawa *et al.*, 2005). Kawaguchi *et al.* (2011) have shown for *A. thaliana* that methanol concentration in the phyllosphere of plant leaves is ~25 mM and rises up to 250 mM in wilting plants allowing growth of methylotrophs.

Methylotrophic yeasts have been used as a model to study the biology of peroxisomes – the intracellular eukaryotic organelles harboring the key enzymes (methanol oxidase, dihydroxyacetone synthase) of methanol metabolism. Growth of yeasts on methanol is accompanied by massive proliferation of peroxisomes they can occupy up to 80% of the cell mass. Transfer of methanol-grown cells to glucose or ethanol medium triggers transcriptional repression of methanolspecific enzymes and rapid degradation of peroxisomes - pexophagy (Stasyk et al., 2007). Aside of peroxisome studies, methylotrophic yeasts have been used for the study of glucose repression, stress response, mating type switching, protein glycosylation and nitrate assimilation (see Wolf, 1996 and references therein). Importantly, methylotrophic yeasts, especially Komagataella phaffii (formerly Pichia pastoris) and Ogataea polymorpha have been and are used for heterologous large-scale production of biotechnologically relevant proteins using strong regulatable promoters from methanol pathway (Löbs et al., 2017 and references therein). For example O. polymorpha has been used as a gene host in producing pharmaceuticals such as insulin for treatment of diabetes, hepatitis B vaccines or IFN α-2a for the treatment of hepatitis C and many enzymes such as the feed additive phytase, anticoagulants hirudin and saratin (reviewed in Ramezani-Rad et al., 2003).

O. polymorpha is thermotolerant (can grow at temperatures up to 50 °C) and belongs to phylum Ascomycota, family Saccharomycetaceae. *O. polymorpha* was initially isolated from orange juice and described by Wickerham in 1951 (NRRL Y-1798 (=ATCC14754)). At this time it was named *Hansenula angusta*. *H. angusta* was formally decsribed by Teunisson *et al.* (1960) and by Morais & Maia (1959) as *H. polymorpha* and in 1970 Wickerham considered *H. angusta* and *H. polymorpha* as synonyms (Naumov *et al.*, 1997). Later,

H. polymorpha was renamed as *Pichia angusta* (Kurtzman, 1984). The new genus *Ogataea* was proposed for nitrate-assimilating methylotrophic yeasts by Yamada *et al.* (1994) and *H. polymorpha* as a nitrate-assimilating species was transferred to the new genus as *O. polymorpha*. In scientific literature, the names *Pichia angusta*, *Hansenula polymorpha* and *Ogataea polymorpha* are all used to designate the same species.

Genomes of three independently isolated *O. polymorpha* strains: CBS 4732, NCYC 495 and DL-1 are sequenced. However, the DL-1 strain was re-classified as *O. parapolymorpha* in 2013 (Naumova *et al.*, 2013). The first genome of *O. polymorpha* (CBS 4732) was sequenced 15 years ago (Ramezani-Rad *et al.*, 2003), but it is not yet released to the public domain. The genome sequences of *O. polymorpha* strain NCYC 495 and *O. parapolymorpha* strain DL-1 are publicly available in MycoCosm portal: http://genome.jgi.doe.gov/programs/ fungi/index.jsf (Grigoriev *et al.*, 2014). The genomes of *O. polymorpha* and *O. parapolymorpha* are approximately 10% divergent in sequence (Ravin *et al.*, 2013; Riley *et al.*, 2016).

1.2. α-Glucosidic sugars in nature

Yeasts prefer sugars over other carbon sources and therefore they thrive in sugar-rich habitats. Many plants (such as sugar cane and sugar beet) and berries contain lots of sucrose – a disaccharide of glucose and fructose (for monomeric composition of α -glucosidic sugars and linkages see Figure 1). Sucrose is also synthesized by cyanobacteria and proteobacteria (Lunn, 2002). Importantly, sucrose can be converted to other sugars by isomerizing enzymes of many organisms including plants, yeasts, filamentous fungi, bacteria and even insects (Lee *et al.*, 2011 and references therein). Turanose, palatinose and maltulose (Fig 1) are present for example in honey and are isomerization products of sucrose (Sawale *et al.*, 2017). Importantly, palatinose is currently enzymatically produced from sucrose at large scale and advertised as a novel healthy sugar with low glycemic index and no cariogenic effect (Sawale *et al.*, 2017). A trisaccharide melezitose (Fig 1) is a main constitute of aphid honeydew and is also found in honey (Daudé *et al.*, 2012).

 α -Glucosidic sugars comprised of only glucose: maltose, isomaltose, maltotriose and panose (Fig 1) are resulting from starch and glucogen degradation by amylases (Janecek, 2009). For example, the beer wort contains 50–60% of maltose, 15–20% maltotriose and 10–15% glucose as major sugars (Stewart, 2016). A trisaccharide panose is also considered an isomalto-oligosaccharide (IMO) as it contains an isomaltose moiety. IMOs are also considered as novel prebiotics – they stimulate growth of probiotic bacteria such as *Bifidobacterium* in the gut (Mäkeläinen *et al.*, 2009). *Ogataea* species have been isolated from spoiled orange juice, leaf surfaces, plant exudates and insect guts (Limtong *et al.*, 2008; Morais *et al.*, 2004 and references therein). Both methanol and α -glucosidic sugars are available in these habitats and should enable the growth

of these yeasts. Tiina Alamäe's research group was the first to deal with genetics and biochemistry of assimilation of α -glucosidic sugars in *Ogataea* – the first paper on this subject was published in 1998 (Alamäe and Liiv, 1998).



Figure 1. α-Glucosidic di- and trisaccharides and the linkages within these sugars.

1.3. MAL genes and clusters in yeasts

In Saccharomyces cerevisiae, the genes required for maltose metabolism are genomically clustered forming so-called *MAL* clusters (loci) at subtelomeric regions of the chromosomes. Subtelomeres are gene-poor regions proximal to the telomeres. The length of subtelomeric region varies from 20 kb in some yeasts to several hundred kb in higher eukaryotes (Brown *et al.*, 2010). Subtelomeric gene families show typical patterns of rapid expansion and evolution – frequent duplication events are followed by functional divergence of the genes yielding novel alleles that may allow for example metabolism of new carbohydrates (Brown *et al.*, 2010). Genomic clustering of functionally related genes is not very common in eukaryotes. In addition to *MAL* clusters, genomic clusters have been characterised also for utilization of galactose, allantoine and nitrate in yeasts and filamentous fungi (Ávila *et al.*, 2002; Kunze *et al.*, 2014; Slot and Rokas, 2010; Wong and Wolfe, 2005).

S. cerevisiae has five *MAL* clusters: *MAL1*, *MAL2*, *MAL3*, *MAL4* and *MAL6* situated near the telomeres of chromosomes VII, III, II, XI and VIII (Brown *et al.*, 2010; Charron *et al.*, 1986; Needleman, 1991; Vanoni *et al.*, 1989). Each *MAL* cluster in *S. cerevisiae* consists of three genes (Fig 2): *MALx1* (maltose permease gene), *MALx2* (maltase gene) and *MALx3* (regulatory *MAL*-activator gene) (Chang *et al.*, 1988; Charron *et al.*, 1986; Dubin *et al.*, 1985; Needleman, 1991). The ,,x" refers to the number of the cluster.



Figure 2. Composition of the *S. cerevisiae MAL3* cluster. *MAL31* – α -glucoside permease; *MAL32* – maltase; *MAL33* – *MAL*-activator. A star marks the location of the telomere. Lower panel depicts position of the *MAL* cluster (in blue) in chromosome 2 of *S. cerevisiae* S288C. Subtelomeric regions (50 kbp from the chromosome end) are shown in grey. Data on *S. cerevisiae* strain S288C was taken from the MycoCosm portal (https://genome.jgi.doe.gov/programs/fungi/index.jsf; Grigoriev *et al.* 2014). The chromosome was visualised using a web-based program PhenoGram (http://visualization.ritchielab.psu.edu/phenograms/plot).

Maltase and maltose permease genes are next to each other also in the genome of several other yeasts, for example *Kluyveromyces lactis* (Fairhead and Dujon, 2006; Goffrini *et al.*, 2002; Leifso *et al.*, 2007) and *Torulaspora delbrueckii* (Alves-Araújo *et al.*, 2004). Multiple *MAL* clusters are present in the genome of *Scheffersomyces* (*Pichia*) *stipitis* which is exceptionally rich in gene clusters having at least 35 clusters of functionally linked genes (Jeffries *et al.*, 2007; Jeffries and Van Vleet, 2009). No *MAL* clusters have been described in a phylogenetically ancient yeast *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*.

1.4 Transport of maltose and other α-glucosidic sugars into a yeast cell

α-Glucosidic sugars can be hydrolyzed extracellularly by secreted or membrane-bound enzymes or intracellularly after the sugar has been transported into the cell. *S. cerevisiae* hydrolyzes maltose intracellularly. Yet, there are some other yeasts (*Lipomyces starkeyi*, *Saccharomycopsis fibuligera* and *Malbranchea sulfurea*), filamentous fungi (for example *Aspergillus* species) and bacteria (*Lactobacillus acidophilus*, *Thermococcus* sp. and *Bacillus* sp.) that can hydrolyze maltose outside the cell (Jansen *et al.*, 2006 and references therein). Both possibilities have been shown for *S. pombe* (Chi *et al.*, 2008; Jansen *et al.*, 2006).

For those yeasts that hydrolyze α -glucosidic sugars inside the cell, the first step in metabolism of these sugars is their transport across the plasma membrane into the cytosol. So, maltose is transported into the cell unchanged by maltose permease, and only then the disaccharide is hydrolyzed into two glucose molecules by cytoplasmic maltase and further metabolized (Klein *et al.*, 1998; Needleman, 1991). Maltose is transported into *S. cerevisiae* (and other yeasts) cells actively in 1:1 symport with protons while glucose is transported only

using downhill facilitated diffusion (Van Leeuwen *et al.*, 1992). Active uphill transport is reasonable as the intracellular maltase has low affinity for maltose (see Table 2) – therefore maltose has to be concentrated into the cell to allow the further hydrolysis (Alamäe and Liiv, 1998; Needleman *et al.*, 1978).

A high-affinity maltose transport system was initially discovered in S. cerevisiae (see Novak et al., 2004 for a review). A high-affinity maltose permease gene MAL61 was cloned by Cheng and Michels in 1989 and kinetic properties of the permease protein were studied by the same authors in 1991 (Cheng and Michels, 1991). This permease has K_m of 4 mM for maltose and its expression is maltose-induced (Cheng and Michels, 1991). The MAL61 protein is 614 aa long, has twelve transmembrane domains and the N- and C-termini of the permease are located at the cytoplasmic side (Cheng and Michels, 1989; Table 1). Aside of transcriptional control by glucose, the maltose permease of S. cerevisiae is inactivated in the presence of glucose – addition of glucose into the medium causes inactivation of the maltose transport system within 90 minutes and transfer of the cells back to maltose triggers its fast (within 1 h) regeneration (see references in Novak et al., 2004). Inactivation of the maltose permease starts with ubiquitination of the permease and thereafter the protein is degraded in the vacuole (Medintz et al., 1998, 1996). It has been also shown that glucose-caused catabolite inactivation of maltose permeases is related to the presence of PEST sequences (which are rich in proline, glutamate, serine and threonine) in the N-terminal cytoplasmic domains, but these sequences have not been found in AGT1 and MPHx transporters (Day, Higgins, et al., 2002; Dietvorst et al., 2005; Medintz et al., 2000). Differently from maltose permease, maltase protein is not inactivated when glucose is added into the medium – regulation of maltase by glucose occurs only at transcriptional level (Federoff et al., 1983).

The α-glucoside transporter AGT1 (MAL11 according to Saccharomyces Genome Database) has wider substrate range than MAL61 that transports only maltose and turanose, yet it plays a role also in maltose entry (Cheng and Michels, 1991; Table 1). The AGT1 gene is a mutant allele of the permease gene of the MAL1 locus situated in subtelomeric region of chromosome VII (Han et al., 1995; Needleman, 1991). The AGT1 permease (as MAL61 and other α -glucoside transporters) is a member of the Sugar Porter family (TCDB 2.A.1.1) of the Major Facilitator Superfamily (MFS) (http://www.tcdb.org) and has similarly to MAL61 twelve transmembrane domains. Its sequence identity to MAL61 permease is 57% (Han et al., 1995). The AGT1 is a maltose/proton symporter with relaxed substrate specificity. It has high affinity for trehalose and sucrose (K_m 8 mM), medium affinity for maltose (K_m 5-17.8 mM), maltotriose (K_m 18.1 mM) and *a*-methylglucoside (K_m 20-35 mM), and low affinity for isomaltose, melezitose and palatinose (Han et al., 1995; Stambuk et al., 1999; Table 1). The preferred substrate for the AGT1 permease is trehalose while MAL1 and MPHx permeases cannot transport this disaccharide (Vidgren et al., 2005). The AGTI expression is transcriptionally induced by maltose as of *MALx1* and the induction is mediated by the MALx3 (Mal-activator) protein.

This is explained by identical UAS_{MAL} region in the promoters of the both genes (Han *et al.*, 1995). Gallone *et al.* (2016) found that beer yeast strains have significantly higher capacity to consume maltotriose compared to wine strains which lack this ability. Efficient metabolism of maltotriose has been explained by the presence of *MAL1* locus (contains the *AGT1* gene) in several copy numbers (Gallone *et al.*, 2016).

A new α -glucoside transporter was independently characterized in 2005 by two groups (Dietvorst *et al.*, 2005; Salema-Oom *et al.*, 2005) in industrial strains of brewer's, baker's and distiller's yeasts. These new transporters are coded by *MTT1* (also called *MTY1*) genes, which are 90% and 54% identical to *S. cerevisiae MALx1* and *AGT1* genes, respectively (Vidgren *et al.*, 2009; Table 1). The **MTT1** transporters have lower K_m values for maltotriose (16–27 mM) than for maltose (61–88 mM), being therefore different from all other α -glucoside transporters (Dietvorst *et al.*, 2005; Salema-Oom *et al.*, 2005; Table 1). The MTT1 permease also transports trehalose and turanose (Dietvorst *et al.*, 2005; Salema-Oom *et al.*, 2005). The ability to efficiently transport maltotriose is very important in brewing where maltotriose makes up about 20% of the wort sugars and is usually the most abundant sugar at later stages of fermentation (Magalhães *et al.*, 2016).

Day *et al.* (2002) characterized two additional maltose permease genes in *S. cerevisiae*: *MPH2* ja *MPH3* (Table 1). These genes encode two identical proteins with 75% identity to *S. cerevisiae* permeases MAL31 and MAL61 and 55% identity to AGT1. Day *et al.* (2002) showed that **MHPx** permease can transport maltose ($K_m \sim 4.4$ mM), maltotriose ($K_m \sim 7$ mM), turanose and methyl- α -D-glucopyranoside (α -MG) (Table 1). Interestingly, general α -glucoside permeases such as AGT1 and MPH2 were also able to mediate glucose transport while overexpressed in a hxt1-17 gal2-deletion strain (Wieczorke *et al.*, 1999).

Maltose transport has also been studied in Torulaspora delbrueckii (Alves-Araújo et al., 2004) and S. pombe (Reinders and Ward, 2001). Alves-Araújo et al. (2004) described a T. delbrueckii gene TdMAL11 (Table 1), which shares similarity with genes of maltose permeases from S. cerevisiae (identity 71%) and Klyuveromyces lactis (identity 57%). Disruption of the TdMAL11 gene indicated that there are at least two maltose transporters in this yeast (Alves-Araújo et al., 2004). Reinders and Ward (2001) described α-glucoside transporter SUT1 (Table 1) from S. pombe which is most similar to sucrose transporters of plants. SUT1 was expressed in S. cerevisiae and assayed for kinetics and range of transported sugars. Differently from plant sucrose transporters, the affinity of the transporter for maltose (K_m 6.5 mM) was higher than for sucrose (K_m 36 mM) (Reinders and Ward, 2001; Table 1). Expression of TdMAL11 and SUT1 are both regulated by carbon source as of maltose transporters of S. cerevisiae - induced by maltose and repressed by glucose (Alves-Araújo et al., 2004; Reinders and Ward, 2001). A summary of the more thoroughly characterized α -glucoside permeases is presented in Table 1. No data was available in the literature on maltose transport in O. polymorpha.

Yeast	Permease	Substrates		$K_{m}\left(mM ight)$		Reference
			DAPG	Maltose	Sucrose	
S. cerevisiae	MAL21	maltose, sucrose, turanose	No transport	5	120	Hollatz and Stambuk, 2001; Stambuk <i>et al.</i> , 2000; Stambuk and de Araujo, 2001
S. cerevisiae	MAL31	maltose, turanose, maltotriose	I	4.2±1.1	I	Day, Higgins, et al., 2002; Day, Rogers, et al., 2002
S. cerevisiae	MAL61	maltose, turanose, maltotriose	No transport	2-4	No transport	Han et al., 1995; Vidgren et al., 2005
S. cerevisiae	AGTI	maltose, sucrose, turanose, PNPG, trehalose, α-MG, maltotriose, isomaltose, palatinose, melezitose	3	18	5.1–17.8	Day, Higgins, <i>et al.</i> , 2002; Han <i>et al.</i> , 1995; Hollatz and Stambuk, 2001; Stambuk and de Araujo, 2001
S. cerevisiae	MPH2/ MPH3	maltose, turanose, maltotriose, α-MG	I	4.4	No transport	Day, Higgins, et al., 2002
S. pombe	SUT1	maltose, sucrose	I	6.5	36	Reinders and Ward, 2001
S. carlsbergensis	MTY1 (MTT1)	maltose, maltotriose	I	61–88	I	Dietvorst <i>et al.</i> , 2005; Salema-Oom <i>et al.</i> , 2005
T. delbrueckii	TdMAL11	maltose	I	2–3	I	Alves-Araújo <i>et al.</i> , 2004
C. utilis	I	maltose	0.83	0.2 (K _i)	I	Sims <i>et al.</i> , 1984

Table 1. Maltose and α -glucoside permeases in yeasts.

- no data available

The role of specific amino acid residues in α -glucoside permeases has been studied by few groups. Trichez (2007) identified four charged amino acid residues in transmembrane domains of the AGT1 permease of S. cerevisiae: Glu120, Asp123, Glu167 and Arg504 which are conserved within α -glucoside transporters of several yeast species. The importance of these amino acids was investigated by generating AGT1 mutants at Glu120, Asp123 and Arg504 and testing the growth of S. cerevisiae on maltotriose and p-nitrophenyl- α -Dglucopyranoside (PNPG, a specific substrate for AGT1 and similar permeases) uptake in mutant strains having only this permease variant (Trichez, 2007). The strain with an Arg504Ala variant of AGT1 lost the ability to grow on maltotriose while strains with AGT1 variants Asp123Gly and Glu120Ala had only reduced maltotriose transport (Trichez, 2007). Trichez (2007) suggested that Glu120 and Asp123 residues of AGT1 are involved in proton translocation and Arg504 is responsible for binding of the sugar. Ten years later, Henderson and Poolman (2017) performed site-directed mutagenesis of key acidic residues in the membrane-embedded domain of MAL11 (AGT1) and showed that the transmembrane acidic residues Glu120, Asp123 addressed also by Trichez (2007) and Glu167 are all essential for effective binding of maltose and proton co-transport. Notably, triple mutants of the three acidic residues were completely deficient in uphill maltose transport, but maintained full downhill efflux and exchange activity (facilitated diffusion process), and mutation of any or all of these three acidic residues introduced substrate leakage from the cell (Henderson and Poolman, 2017).

Maltose transport in *O. polymorpha* was first studied in Tiina Alamäe's research group – respective data are included in current theses. Earlier, two kinetically different glucose transport systems were described by this group for *O. polymorpha*: a low-affinity transport system (K_m for glucose 1.75 mM) present in glucose-repressed cells and a high-affinity transport system (K_m for glucose ~0.05 mM) detected in glucose-derepressed cells (Karp and Alamäe, 1998). The first hexose transporter gene *HXT1* of *O. polymorpha* was cloned and successfully expressed in a hexose transporterless mutant of *S. cerevisiae* by Stasyk *et al.* in 2008. Low-affinity glucose transport was strongly reduced in *hxt1* mutants of *O. polymorpha* indicating that HXT1 protein is a low-affinity glucose transporter (Stasyk *et al.*, 2008). According to Stasyk *et al.* (2008) there are at least six glucose transporters and two fructose transporter-related genes in *S. cerevisiae* and 34 sugar permease genes in total (Wieczorke *et al.*, 1999).

1.5. Yeast α -glucosidases and their evolution

Yeast α -glucosidases belong to a group of glycoside hydrolases (EC 3.2.1.–). Glycoside hydrolases (GHs) are a widespread group of enzymes which hydrolyze the glycosidic bond between two or more carbohydrates or between a carbohydrate and a non-carbohydrate moiety (Lombard *et al.*, 2014). For example, α -glucosidase of *O. polymorpha* can hydrolyze an α -glycosidic bond

not only in maltose and sucrose, but also in α -MG (methyl- α -D-glucopyranoside) and PNPG liberating methanol and *p*-nitrophenol from respective substrates (Liiv *et al.*, 2001). Hydrolysis of a chromogenic substrate PNPG is widely used for quantitating of catalytic activity of α -glucosidases (Zimmermann *et al.*, 1977). Yeast α -glucosidases degrade di- and oligosaccharides rapidly, large polysaccharides (starch) are hydrolyzed slowly or not at all (Deng *et al.*, 2014; Needleman *et al.*, 1978; Table 2).

The most extensively studied yeast *S. cerevisiae* has two types of α -glucosidases for the hydrolysis of α -glucosidic sugars: maltases (EC 3.2.1.20) and isomaltases (EC 3.2.1.10) (Table 2). Enzymes of the latter group have also been named oligo-1,6-glucosidases, sucrase-isomaltases and α -methylglucosidases.

There are 146 Glycoside Hydrolases (GH) Families in the CAZY database (http://www.cazy.org). Maltases and isomaltases belong to GH13 family which in turn contains 42 subfamilies (Lombard *et al.*, 2014). In addition to maltases and isomaltases, the GH13 family includes for example α -amylases, cyclo-dextrin glucantransferases, pullulanases, isoamylases, trehalose synthases, trehalose-6-phosphate hydrolases, branching enzymes, neopullulanases and some others (http://www.cazy.org). The similarity of the amino acid sequences within the GH13 family proteins is low, however they all share four highly conserved regions and three acidic catalytic residues located in conserved regions (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010). α -Glucosidases have been found in a variety of organisms and short overview of most thoroughly characterized α -glucosidases from yeasts and other organisms are found in Tables 3 and 4 respectively. Many putative α -glucosidases have also been disclosed through genome mining. However the enzymes deduced from the genomes mostly remain uncharacterized.

Maltases have a quite narrow substrate range – they degrade maltose and maltotriose (both α -1,4 linked) while cannot degrade isomaltose, an α -1,6 linked starch degradation product (Needleman *et al.*, 1978; Voordeckers *et al.*, 2012; Tables 2 and 3). For isomaltose degradation, *Saccharomyces* yeasts have specific enzymes – isomaltases IMA1 to IMA5 (Naumoff and Naumov, 2010; Teste *et al.*, 2010; Table 2). *IMA1–IMA5* genes are located in *S. cerevisiae* at subtelomeric regions of chromosomes VII, XV, IX, X and X, respectively.

The first glycoside hydrolases were crystallized in 1980s. The first crystal structures resolved for glycoside hydrolases were of TAKA-amylase A (Brzozowski and Davies, 1997; Matsuura *et al.*, 1984) and porcine pancreatic α -amylase (Buisson *et al.*, 1987; Qian *et al.*, 1993). By now, there are quite many α -glucosidases with solved structures (Table 3): human maltase-glucoamylase (MGAM) and sucrase-isomaltase (SI) (Sim *et al.*, 2010), oligo-1,6-glucosidase (malL) from *Bacillus cereus* (Watanabe *et al.*, 1997), malL of *Bacillus subtilis* (Hobbs *et al.*, 2013), α -glucosidase GSJ of *Geobacillus* sp. (Shirai *et al.*, 2008), α -glucosidase (HaG) of *Halomonas* sp. (Shen *et al.*, 2015). The common structure of GH13 family enzymes consists of three domains: an N-terminal catalytic domain (domain A) folded into a (β/α)₈-barrel, an additional domain (domain B) extending out of the barrel, and a β -sheet-rich domain in the C-terminus (domain C) (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010).

				m success	apoettering.	nom yourse.	
Organism; enzyme;	Protein	Confirmed substrates /		$K_m (mM)$			Reference
extra/intracellular	mass (kDa)	linkages	PNPG	Maltose	Sucrose	Isomaltose	
<i>S. cerevisiae</i> , MAL62 (intracellular)	63	PNPG, maltose, sucrose, turanose	0.31	16.6	15	No activity	Needleman <i>et al.</i> , 1978; Krakenaĭte and Glemzha, 1983
<i>S. cerevisiae,</i> IMA1 (intracellular)	68.5	PNPG, isomaltose, α-MG, sucrose, palatinose, isomaltotriose, panose	0.58 ± 0.16 / 2.13	No activity	144 ± 26	17 ± 4	Yamamoto <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Deng <i>et al.</i> , 2014; SGD
<i>S. cerevisiae,</i> IMA2 (intracellular)	68.6	PNPG, isomaltose, α- MG, sucrose, palatinose, isomaltotriose, panose	0.89 ± 0.13	No activity	147 ± 24	17±2	Deng et al., 2014; SGD
<i>S. cerevisiae</i> , IMA3/4 (intracellular)	9.89	PNPG, isomaltose, α- MG, sucrose, palatinose	0.35 ± 0.09	No activity	116 ± 12	37 ± 9	Deng et al., 2014; SGD
<i>S. cerevisiae</i> , IMA5 (intracellular)	67.5	PNPG, isomaltose, sucrose, palatinose, isomaltotriose, panose	0.48 ± 0.11	No activity	191 ± 24	13 ± 2	Deng et al., 2014; SGD
Schizosaccharomyces pombe, mall (intracellular)	67.75	PNPG, maltose, sucrose, dextrin, soluble starch	20.3 ± 0.3	14.5 ± 0.2	3.1 ± 0.1	I	Chi <i>et al.</i> , 2008
<i>S. pombe</i> , agl1 (extracellular)	108.72	maltose	I	7.0 ± 1.8	I	I	Jansen <i>et al.</i> , 2006; Kato <i>et al.</i> , 2013; PomBase (https://www.pombase.org/)

Table 2. Comparison of biochemical properties of selected α -glucosidases with known substrate specificity from yeasts.

Reference		Liiv <i>et al.</i> , 2001		Geber et al., 1992		Oda et al., 1993			Marín <i>et al.</i> , 2006				Kelly et al., 1985				
	Isomaltose	I		No activity		17			No activity				High	activity*			
(Sucrose	42 (K _i)		13		29			No	activity			No	activity			
K _m (mM	Maltose	95 (K _i)		20		150			2.71				High	activity*			
	PNPG	0.51		I		0.15			No activity				High activity*				
Confirmed substrates /	linkages	PNPG, sucrose, maltose, a-MG		maltose, sucrose, α-MG		PNPG, maltose,	isomaltose, maltotriose,	340103C, 4-1410	α -1,4 glycosidic bonds in	soluble starch and malto-	oligosaccharides		PNPG, maltose,	isomaltose, maltotriose,	isomaltoriose,	amylopectin, starch,	panose, amylose
Protein	mass (kDa)	65.3		66.1		69-09			115	(2 mono-	mers)		35				
Organism; enzyme;	extra/intracellular	Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha, MAT1	(intracellular)	Candida albicans, CAMAL2	(IIIII accitatat)	Torulaspora	pretoriensis	u-guroosuaso (intracellular)	Xanthophyllomyces	dendrorhous	(Phaffia rhodozyma),	α-glucosidase (extracellular)	Lipomyces starkeyi,	a-glucosidase	(extracellular)		

	nfirmed substrates / linkages K _m (mM) Reference	PNPG Maltose Sucrose Isomaltose	.4 glycosidic linkages: 0.63 5.6 – Tsujimoto <i>et al.</i> , 2007 tose, malto-oligosaccharides, lucans	,6 linkages: isomaltose, IMOs, 0.24 – – – 3.3 Tsujimoto <i>et al.</i> , 2007 mit dextrin	$3 \text{ and } \alpha$ -1,4 linkages: PNPG, 2.68 – – – Cihan <i>et al.</i> , 2011 tose, dextrin, turanose, totriose, maltotetraose, topentaose, maltohexaose, ose, soluble starch	4, and a-1,6 glycosidic0.210.13510.20.45Schönert <i>et al.</i> , 1998,ages: PNPG, sucrose, tose, isomaltose, maltotriose, totetraose, maltopentaose, tohexaose0.13510.20.45Schönert <i>et al.</i> , 1998,	,2, α-1,3, α-1,4, and α-1,6 1.8 43.5 – 129.6 Kim <i>et al.</i> , 2017 cosidic linkages	PG. maltose. maltotriose. 6.9 0.9 – – Egeter and Brückner.
0	ned substrates / linkages		lycosidic linkages: e, malto-oligosaccharides, tns	inkages: isomaltose, IMOs, dextrin	nd α-1,4 linkages: PNPG, e, dextrin, turanose, iose, maltotetraose, entaose, maltohexaose, soluble starch	and α-1,6 glycosidic ss: PNPG, sucrose, e, isomaltose, maltotriose, straose, maltopentaose, exaose	$x-1,3, \alpha-1,4$, and $\alpha-1,6$ dic linkages	maltose, maltotriose,
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	Protein Confirr	mass (kDa)	$- \frac{\alpha - 1}{\alpha} \frac{4}{3} \frac{g}{\alpha - 1}$	$ \alpha$ -1,6 li α -limit	 α-1,3 a maltost maltott maltott maltot maltot 	6.6 α-1,4, ε linkage maltose maltote maltoth	67 α-1,2, c glycosi	62.5 PNPG,
	Organism; enzyme		Bacillus (Geobacillus) stearothermophilus a-1,4-glucosidase	Bacillus (Parageobacillus) thermoglucosdasius oligo-1,6-glucosidase	Geobacillus thermodenitritrificans a-glucosidase	B. subtilis a-glucosidase MalL (sucrase-isomaltase- maltase)	Bifidobacterium longum subsp. longum a-1,4-glucosidase (BLAG)	Staphylococcus xylosus

Table 3. Comparison of biochemical properties of well characterized α-glucosidases from other organisms.

)rganism; enzyme	Protein	Confirmed substrates / linkages		K_{m} (n	(Mr		Reference
	mass (kDa)		PNPG	Maltose	Sucrose	Isomaltose	
iulfolobus solfataricus naltase (a-glucosidase)	80 (subunit)	PNPG, maltose, maltotriose, maltotetraose, maltoheptaose, isomaltose, dextrin	3.2	0.91	I	I	Rolfsmeier and Blum, 1995
Homo sapiens sucrase-isomaltase (SI) (intestinal membrane-bound)	209	α -1,2, α -1,4 and α -1,6 glycosidic linkages	1.3 ± 0.1	7.1 ±1.3	I	I	Gericke <i>et al.</i> , 2016; Sim <i>et al.</i> , 2010; http://www.uniprot.org/
<i>Homo sapiens</i> maltase-glucoamylase (MGAM) (intestinal membrane- oound)	209.9	linear α -1,4 and branched α -1,6 oligosaccharides	12.1 ± 1.0	4.3 ± 1.2	I	I	Sim <i>et al.</i> , 2010; http://www.uniprot.org/
<i>Apis mellifera</i> L. α-glucosidase III (secreted)	68	PNPG, sucrose, maltose, maltoriose, maltotetraose, maltopentaose, maltohexaose, kojibiose, nigerose, isomaltose, turanose	13	11	30	I	Kubota <i>et al.</i> , 2004; Nishimoto <i>et al.</i> , 2001

"-" data not available

From yeast α -glucosidases, three-dimensional structure has been determined only for *S. cerevisiae* isomaltase 1 (IMA1; PDB ID 3AJ7 and 3A4A) (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010). Its structure in complex with a competitive inhibitor maltose has uncovered the active site bordering (signature) amino acids (Y158, V216, G217, S218, L219, M278, Q279, D307, E411) the Val216 being crucial for selective binding of the substrate (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010; Table 4).

Table 4. Signature amino acids of α -glucosidases with known substrate specificity. The table is mostly based on the data from Figure 4 in Voordeckers *et al.*, 2012. Background coloring in the table is as follows: maltases (pink), isomaltases (green) and maltase-isomaltases (blue). The position corresponding to Val216 of *Sc* IMA1 is of key importance in determination of substrate specificity of α -glucosidases and is shown in red frame. AncMALS – a resurrected hypothetical ancestor protein of *Sc* maltases/isomaltases (Voordeckers *et al.*, 2012); *Le – Lodderomyces elongisporus* (GenBank accession XP_001526531.1; Voordeckers *et al.*, 2012); *Sc – S. cerevisiae*; *Sp – Schizosaccharomyces pombe*; *Bs – Bacillus stearothermophilus*; *Bt – Bacillus thermoglucosidasius*.

α-glucosidase			Sig (num	gnatuı berin	re ami g as ii	ino ac 1 <i>Sc</i> II	ids MA1)			Substrate
	158	216	217	218	219	278	279	307	411	specificity
ancMALS	F	Т	А	G	L	V	G	D	Е	maltase- isomaltase
Le α -glucosidase	Н	Т	A	G	М	V	G	D	Ν	maltase- isomaltase
Sc MAL12	F	Т	А	G	L	V	Α	Е	D	maltase
Sc MAL32	F	Т	А	G	L	V	Α	Е	D	maltase
Sp Mal1	Y	Α	Ι	Ν	М	М	Р	D	Е	maltase
<i>Bs</i> α-1,4- glucosidase	Ι	A	Ι	S	Н	А	N	G	А	maltase
<i>Bt</i> oligo-1,6-glucosidase	V	v	Ι	N	М	Т	Р	D	Е	isomaltase
Sc IMA1	Y	V	G	S	L	М	Q	D	Е	isomaltase
Sc IMA2	Y	V	G	S	L	М	Q	D	Е	isomaltase
Sc IMA3/4	Y	V	G	S	L	М	R	D	Е	isomaltase
Sc IMA5	F	V	G	S	М	V	G	S	Е	isomaltase

The structures of the IMA1 mutant E277A of *S. cerevisiae* in complex with isomaltose and maltose were also determined by Yamamoto *et al.* (2011). The signature amino acids from *Sc* IMA1 compared to other α -glucosidases with known substrate specificity are shown in Table 4. Analysis of the amino acid sequences of α -glucosidases with known function showed that α -glucosidases hydrolyzing the α -1,6-glycosidic linkage have a Val residue following the catalytic nucleophile in region II. The corresponding residue of α -glucosidases

acting on the α -1,4-glycosidic linkage is Thr (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010; see also residues inside the red frame in Table 4). Another important position in IMA1 is Gln279 (see Table 4) which is located in the vicinity of catalytic acid/base residue (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010). Isomaltase mutants Val216Thr and Gln279Ala gained the ability to hydrolyze maltose, so the amino acid residues at these positions are certainly responsible for determining the substrate specificity of α -glucosidases (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2010). Tsujimoto *et al.* (2007) have shown the importance of the position Ala/Val200 (corresponds to Val216 in *Sc* IMA1) also in *Bacillus stearothermophilus* α -1,4-glucosidase and *Bacillus thermoglucosidasius* oligo-1,6-glucosidase (Tables 3 and 4).

Voordeckers et al. (2012) predicted in silico and resurrected in vitro a hypothetical ancestor protein ancMALS (Table 4) of maltases and isomaltases of Saccharomyces yeasts (see also Figure 4 in Voordeckers et al., 2012). The ancMalS was predicted as bifunctional being primarily active on maltose-like substrates, but also having a minor activity on isomaltose-like sugars. The present-day a-glucosidases of S. cerevisiae preferentially hydrolyze either isomaltose-like sugars (IMA1, IMA2 and IMA5) or maltose-like sugars (MAL12, MAL32, MAL62) (Voordeckers et al., 2012). The authors speculate that it is difficult to fully optimize these two activities in one protein – so the catalytic activity of the promiscuous ancestral protein stays quite low. Gene duplication and subfunctionalization of the gene product resolved this adaptive conflict optimizing the subfunctions separately in different paralogs (Voordeckers et al., 2012). Gabriško (2013) has studied the evolutionary origin of GH13 α -glucosidases and pointed out that respective fungal enzymes are always closely related to the prokaryotic group. Gabriško hypothesised that fungal α -glucosidases may originate from bacterial ancestors and current enzymes retain certain similarity with ancestral ones, but he also considers (ancient) horizontal gene transfer from bacteria as a possibility (Gabriško, 2013). Herein it should be noted that the maltase Mal1 of an 'ancient' yeast S. pombe and a bacterial maltase (from B. stearothermophilus) both have an Ala and Ile at positions corresponding to Val216 and Gly217 of S. cerevisiae IMA1 protein (Table 4). S. cerevisiae maltases have Thr and Ala at this position. Interestingly, the MAL1 gene of O. polymorpha has also a property of a bacterial gene - its promoter region is perfectly recognized in a bacterium Escherichia coli - it possesses two pairs of sigma 70-like sequences (Alamäe et al., 2003).

1.6. Regulation of the *MAL* genes and proteins in *S. cerevisiae* and some other yeasts

The preferred carbon sources for yeasts are monosaccharides glucose and fructose. In the presence of these sugars, the enzymes required for utilization of other carbon sources are synthesized at a low level or not at all. This phenomen is known as glucose repression. Glucose repression in yeasts has mostly been

studied using *S. cerevisiae* as a model organism and invertase and maltase genes as model genes (Gancedo, 1998; Ronne, 1995; Zimmermann and Scheel, 1977).

1.6.1. *S. cerevisiae:* glucose sensing, inactivation and repression by glucose

To sense low and high concentrations of glucose, two specific transporter-like transmembrane proteins SNF3 and RGT2 with long C-terminal cytosolic extensions are present in *S. cerevisiae* (Gancedo, 1998; Fig 3). In the presence of glucose, maltose utilization in *S. cerevisiae* is prevented at three levels: transcriptional, translational and posttranslational (Klein *et al.*, 1996). Firstly, if glucose is present, maltose transporter is inactivated and degraded as described in chapter 1.4. Thereby maltose does not reach the cell and transcription from *MAL* genes is not induced (Brondijk *et al.*, 1998; Hicke *et al.*, 1997; Lucero *et al.*, 1993; Medintz *et al.*, 2000). Secondly, adding glucose to induced cells will result in mRNA lability of the glucose repressed genes and that has also an effect on translational efficiency. For example, the functional half-life of *MAL62* mRNA decreases from 25 to 6 min in the presence of glucose (Federoff *et al.*, 1983; Gancedo, 1998).

The main repressive effect of carbon source is executed at transcriptonal level (Gancedo, 1998) and it is described below in more detail. The key components of the glucose repression are shown on Figure 3. It is accepted that the signal for glucose repression is transmitted to transcriptional machinery via hexokinases in S. cerevisiae, with hexokinase PII (HXK2) playing a major role (Ahuatzi et al., 2004; Gancedo, 2008; Mayordomo and Sanz, 2001; Moreno and Herrero, 2002; Zimmermann and Entian, 1997). Transcriptional repression is executed by a repressor protein MIG1. At high glucose concentrations, HXK2 and MIG1 enter the nucleus, where MIG1 leads corepressors TUP1 and CYC8 to target promoters whereas HXK2 stabilizes the repressor complex (Ahuatzi et al., 2007; Gancedo, 1998; Kayikci and Nielsen, 2015; Santangelo, 2006). MIG1 is a C_2H_2 zinc finger protein which binds to several promoters of genes repressed by glucose such as SUC2 and most genes of the MEL-GAL regulon (Nehlin et al., 1991; Nehlin and Ronne, 1990). When glucose concentration reduces, the SNF1 protein kinase will inactivate MIG1 by phosphorylation and MIG1 will be exported from the nucleus, allowing transcriptional activation of the promoters (Ahuatzi et al., 2004, 2007; Gancedo, 2008; Kavikci and Nielsen, 2015; Moreno and Herrero, 2002). The recognition sequence in promoters for MIG1 is (G/C)(C/T)GGGG, an AT-rich sequence is needed at the 5' end of the GC-box (Lundin et al., 1994; Needham and Trumbly, 2006; Santangelo, 2006).



Figure 3. A simplified scheme of glucose-repression and maltose-induction in *S. cere-visiae.* The arrows indicate inducing effects and a hammerheaded line indicates repressing effects.

1.6.2. S. cerevisiae: induction by maltose

The presence of maltose in the medium induces the transcription of the *MALx2* (maltase) and *MALx1* (maltose permease) genes in *S. cerevisiae* (Jiang *et al.*, 2000; Wang *et al.*, 1997; Wang and Needleman, 1996; Yao *et al.*, 1994). Maltose permease and maltase genes share a 700 bp bi-directional promoter region that coordinate transcription of both genes (Bell *et al.*, 1995; Dubin *et al.*, 1985; Meurer *et al.*, 2017; Needleman *et al.*, 1984). In the presence of maltose, the transcription of both genes is induced *via* binding of the MAL-activator (MALx3) to the bi-directional promoter (Chang *et al.*, 1988); Kim and Michels, 1988; Sirenko *et al.*, 1995; Meurer *et al.*, 2017; Fig 3). Glucose represses expression of both genes through binding of the MIG1 repressor even if the inducer maltose is present (Klein *et al.*, 1998). So, the activation/repression of the *MALx1 – MALx2* bi-directional promoter may be explained by competition between MIG1 and MAL63 for GC-binding boxes (Gancedo, 1998).

MAL63 is a 470 aa zinc finger protein belonging to C_6 zinc cluster proteins and it binds to the DNA as a dimer (Chang *et al.*, 1988; Kim and Michels, 1988; Sirenko *et al.*, 1995). Mutation in *MAL63* gene unables the induction of maltase and maltose permease genes (Novak et al., 2004). Some laboratory strains of S. cerevisiae (for example S288C and W303-1A) fail to grow on maltose and other α-glucosidic sugars because of a nonfunctional MAL-activator allele (Brown et al., 2010; Meurer et al., 2017). The DNA sequence recognized by MALx3 is not yet clear. Initially it was suggested that motif GAAA(A/T)TTTCGC is important, but later on sequences CGGN₉CGG, CGCN₉CGC and CGGN₉CGC (N₉ is AT rich) were proposed as crucial for maltose-induced activation of promoters (Gancedo, 1998). It has been hypothesized that binding of maltose to MAL63 causes confirmational changes in the activator and leads to transcriptional activation (Danzi et al., 2000; Wang and Needleman, 1996), but the exact mechanism is unknown (Fig 3). Constitutive alleles of MAL63 encode proteins with several mutations in C-terminal regions which may lead to active confirmation even if no maltose is present (Wang and Needleman, 1996). Expression of MAL63 is repressed by glucose via MIG1 repressor protein removal of MIG1 binding sites in MAL63 promoter and in the MIG1-disruption mutant the MAL63 is expressed in the presence of glucose (Wang and Needleman, 1996).

1.6.3. Regulation in *O. polymorpha* and some other yeasts

In 2004, Stasyk *et al.* characterized a hexose transporter homologue GCR1 in *O. polymorpha* that was similar to glucose sensors SNF3 and RGT2 of *S. cerevisiae*, but lacked the C-terminal cytosolic "tail" (Stasyk *et al.*, 2004) which has been shown essential in SNF3 for glucose sensing (Santangelo, 2006; Vagnoli *et al.*, 1998). The GCR1-deletion mutant grew well on high glucose and the authors suggested that GCR1 could be involved in high-affinity glucose transport or its regulation (Stasyk *et al.*, 2004). In 2008, Stasyk *et al.* characterized another transporter-like protein – HXS1 – with similarity to *S. cerevisiae* RGT2 and SNF3. The *HXS1* gene did not complement the hexose transporter-less mutant of *S. cerevisiae* indicating that HXS1 is not a functional transporter, but rather a sensor (Stasyk *et al.*, 2008).

Induction of maltase synthesis by maltose and sucrose, and repression by glucose was shown for *O. polymorpha* already in 1998 (Alamäe and Liiv, 1998). Growth of *O. polymorpha* on glycerol and ethanol allowed derepression of maltase synthesis (Alamäe and Liiv, 1998). Literature data show that glucose repression mechanisms of *O. polymorpha* differ from those described for *Saccharomyces*. Differently from *S. cerevisiae*, both hexokinase and gluco-kinase can mediate glucose repression in *O. polymorpha* whereas fructose repression is mediated only by hexokinase (Kramarenko *et al.*, 2000; Laht *et al.*, 2002). Therefore, phosphorylation of the sugar seems to be important for initiation of the repression. Stasyk *et al.* (2007) described *S. cerevisiae* MIG1 and MIG2 homologues of *O. polymorpha*. The identity of OpMIG2 and OpMIG1 to ScMIG1 is up to 76% and 80% when N-terminal conserved regions are compared (Stasyk *et al.*, 2007). The OpMIG1 and OpMIG2 are respectively

480 aa and 204 aa long and they are 33% identical to each other (Stasyk *et al.*, 2007). Disruption of *MIG1* and *MIG2* genes in *O. polymorpha* had only a minor effect on glucose repression of alcohol oxidase (Stasyk *et al.*, 2007) and no effect on glucose repression of maltase (unpublished data). As hexokinase and MIG1 proteins have no specific role in glucose repression in *O. polymorpha*, some mechanism alternative to that of *S. cerevisiae* should be involved. *O. polymorpha MAL1* gene was expressed in *S. cerevisiae* maltase-negative mutant 100-1B and it was regulated the same way as the *S. cerevisiae* native maltase (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003). It may allow to hypothesize that regulator proteins from *S. cerevisiae* are able to bind the promoter of *O. polymorpha MAL1*. The analysis of the promoter region of *O. polymorpha MAL1* also showed that there are potential MIG1 and MAL63 binding sites (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003).

MAL63 homolog a zinc finger protein CaSUC1 has been found in *C. albicans* and it complements the *MAL63* mutant of *S. cerevisiae* (Kelly and Kwon-Chung, 1992). The CaSUC1 shares 28% identity with *S. cerevisiae* MAL63. CaSUC1 is required to up-regulate expression of *C. albicans* α -glucosidase by maltose and sucrose (Kelly and Kwon-Chung, 1992).

S. cerevisiae MIG1 homologs have been found from *C. albicans* (Zaragoza *et al.*, 2000), *Kluyveromyces lactis* (Cassart *et al.*, 1995), *C. utilis* (Delfin *et al.*, 2001), *S. pombe, Scwanniomyces occidentalis* (Carmona *et al.*, 2002) and *Aspergillus* sp. (Gancedo, 1998; Klein *et al.*, 1998). MIG1 homologs from *K. lactis* and *K. marxianus* complement the *S. cerevisiae* MIG1 mutant restoring glucose repression (Cassart *et al.*, 1995, 1997). *C. albicans CaMIG1* was also able to complement the MIG1 deficiency in *S. cerevisiae*, but disruption of *CaMIG1* did not relieve glucose repression (Zaragoza *et al.*, 2000). So, the mechanism of MIG1 functioning in *C. albicans* is not yet known.

Alves-Araujo *et al.* (2004) cloned *T. delbueckii* maltose permease *TdMAL11* and further sequencing revealed the presence of maltase gene *TdMAL12* transcribed from the opposite strand. The expression of both of the genes is regulated by glucose. Analysis of the intergenic region of *TdMAL11-TdMAL12* genes revealed the presence of two potential MAL-activator and MIG1 binding sites and one of these site was overlapping as in *S. cerevisiae* (Alves-Araújo *et al.*, 2004). This finding is in good correlation as the expression of maltose permease *TdMAL11* is regulated the same way as in *S. cerevisiae*. No *MAL*-activator has been found in this yeast (Bussereau *et al.*, 2006; Fairhead and Dujon, 2006).

II AIMS OF THE STUDY

The main aim of the study was to characterize the genes and proteins responsible for metabolism of α -glucosidic disaccharides in *O. polymorpha*.

In more detail, the aims of my work are as follows:

- To identify the genomic clustering of *MAL* genes in *O. polymorpha* (Refs I and II)
- To characterize transport of α -glucosidic sugars and respective transporter OpMAL2 in *O. polymorpha* (Refs I, II and III)
- To characterize substrate specificity of the α -glucosidase OpMAL1 and significance of Thr200 in its substrate selection (Ref IV)
- To characterize the regulation of expression of α -glucosidase OpMAL1 and α -glucoside permease OpMAL2 by carbon sources (Refs I, II, III, IV)

III RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

3.1. The MAL cluster of O. polymorpha (Refs I and II)

The maltase structural gene (*MAL1*) of *O. polymorpha* was isolated from a genomic library by Tiina Alamäe's research group in 2001 (Liiv *et al.*, 2001). An open reading frame of 1695 bp encoding a 564 aa protein with calculated molecular weight of 65.3 kD (see Table 2) was characterized in the genomic insert of the library plasmid p51 (Liiv *et al.*, 2001).

Inspection of several Génolevures project (Blandin et al., 2000; Feldmann, 2000) library clones of O. polymorpha CBS 4732 showed that genomic inserts of the clones BB0AA021D05, BB0AA011B12 and BB0AA003C10 (Fig 4) contained fragments of different MAL genes. Further analysis of these clones disclosed composition of the O. polymorpha MAL locus. In Ref 1 a bidirectional promoter region was identified between the MAL1 and MAL2 genes of O. polymorpha (see scheme of BB0AA011B12 in Figure 4) and regulation from this promoter by carbon sources was studied (will be discussed in chapter 3.3). In addition to N-terminal fragment of the maltase gene and full-length sequence of the permease gene, the clone BB0AA011B12 contained the N-terminal fragment of a putative Zn-finger MAL-activator gene (Fig 4). From analysis of sequences of library clones BB0AA011B12 and BB0AA021D05 present in the Génolevures database, it was considered that O. polymorpha has a three-gene MAL locus (Ref 1). However, sequencing of the genomic insert of the clone BB0AA021D05 showed that sequence AL434102.1 belongs to the MALactivator 2 gene instead of MAL-activator 1 gene as was erroneously reported in Ref I (see Fig 1a of Ref I). In fact, the genomic library clone BB0AA021D05 contains the complete sequence of the MAL-activator 1 gene and a sequence coding a C-terminal fragment of the putative MAL-activator 2 (see Fig 4, BB0AA021D05 correct). To conclude, O. polymorpha has two hypothetical Znfinger transcription factor genes next to the MAL2 gene which were named MAL-activator 1 (MAL-ACT 1) and MAL-activator 2 (MAL-ACT 2). Full-length MAL-activator 2 gene is present in the library clone BB0AA003C10 (Fig 4).

As shown in Figures 4 and 5, the composition of the *O. polymorpha MAL* locus is almost the same as of *MAL*-loci of *S. cerevisiae* except for the number of *MAL*-activator genes (two vs one) and the transcriptional direction of the first *MAL*-activator gene. For composition of a *MAL* locus of *S. cerevisiae* see Figure 2.

GenBank accession numbers of the genes from the *MAL* locus of *O. polymorpha* CBS 4732 are given in Figure 5. Full-length sequence of the *MAL* locus of *O. polymorpha* CBS 4732 is accessible under the number MH252366 (shown also on Fig 5). Comparison of genomic sequences of *MAL* clusters from *O. polymorpha* strains NCYC 495 leu1.1 and CBS 4732 showed their identity.



Figure 4. Composition of the *O. polymorpha MAL* locus. Genomic inserts in the Génolevures library clones are shown within the frame. Respective GenBank numbers of sequences belonging to *MAL* genes are shown on top of the frames. *MAL1* gene encoding a maltase is shown in yellow, *MAL2* gene encoding the permease is shown in green and the putative *MAL*-activator genes are shown in pink. The corrected scheme of the insert in clone BB0AA021D05 is also shown.

As *MAL* loci of *S. cerevisiae* are positioned subtelomerically, the chromosomal location of the *O. polymorpha MAL* locus was inspected. The first *O. polymorpha* genome – of strain CBS 4732 – was sequenced in 2003 (Ramezani-Rad *et al.* 2003), but the sequence is not yet public. Therefore, the genome of *O. polymorpha* strain NCYC 495 leu1.1 (Grigoriev *et al.*, 2014; MycoCosm portal https://genome. jgi.doe.gov/programs/fungi/index.jsf) was used instead to illustrate the chromosomal position of the *MAL* locus in *O. polymorpha*. Figure 5 (bottom) shows that in *O. polymorpha* the *MAL* cluster is not subtelomeric.





Analysis of the N-terminal fragment of the putative MAL-activator 1 (*Op* MALACT 1) also encoded in the Génolevures clone BB0AA011B12 (Fig 4) revealed presence of a Zn-finger motif containing six conserved cysteins (Ref I) as in the case of MAL-activators MAL63 from *S. cerevisiae* and CaSUC1 from *Candida albicans* (Chang *et al.*, 1988; Kelly and Kwon-Chung, 1992). Alignment of the N-terminal parts of yeast MAL-activators is shown in Figure 6. At this time there was information on only one putative *MAL*-activator gene (*MAL*-activator 1). Further analysis of the *MAL* cluster revealed the presence of another putative *MAL*-activator next to it (Figs 5 and 6).



Figure 6. Alignment of the N-terminal parts of the putative MAL-activator proteins. The figure was adjusted from Ref I, Figure 2b, by adding the sequence of the *Op*MALACT 2. CaSUC1 from *Candia albicans* (P33181); MAL13 from *S. cerevisiae* (P53338); DeHa, a hypothetical MAL-activator from *Debaryomyces hansenii* (Q6BYN4). Six cysteine residues of zinc fingers are shown in red. The crosses above the alignment designate the predicted nuclear transport motif of the CaSUC1 protein (Blandin *et al.*, 2000).

The N-terminal part of both hypothetical Mal-activators of *O. polymorpha* aligns well with yeast Mal-activators and contains six conserved cysteins (Fig 6). Both putative *MAL*-activator genes of *O. polymorpha* have been sequenced and submitted to the GenBank under accession numbers HM624022.1 and HM624023.1 (Fig 5). Proteins deduced from respective gene sequences are 570 aa (MAL-activator 1) and 628 aa (MAL-activator 2) long. The identity between these two proteins is only 26%, their identity to *C. albicans* CaSUC1 is 23-24%, and the identity to the *S. cerevisiae* MAL63 is even less – 15–16% (unpublished data). Despite the low identity (only 28%) between the CaSUC1 and MAL63 proteins of *S. cerevisiae*, CaSUC1 of *C. albicans* can replace the function of the MAL-activator of *S. cerevisiae* (Kelly and Kwon-Chung, 1992).

Southern blot has confirmed presence of a single maltase gene in *O. polymorpha* (Liiv *et al.*, 2001). The fact that disruptants of *O. polymorpha MAL1* and *MAL2* genes lose the ability to grow on α -glucosidic sugars (Refs II and IV) confirms that these genes encode sole functional proteins for the transport and hydrolysis of α -glucosidic sugars. On the basis of information available it can be concluded that the *O. polymorpha* has a single *MAL* locus that consists of four genes: maltase (maltase-isomaltase), maltose (α -glucoside) permease and two putative *MAL*-activators. The published experimental data confirm that *MAL1* and *MAL2* genes are indispensable for utilization of α -glucosidic sugars

by *O. polymorpha*. Functionality and role of two putative *MAL*-activators still have to be proven. There is indirect support of functionality for at least *MAL*-activator 1 gene. Namely, the promoter of this gene was regulated by carbon sources the same way as the promoters of *MAL1* and *MAL2* genes (Table 4 in Ref II).

MAL clusters have been previously identified in *Scheffersomyces stipitis* (Jeffries and Van Vleet, 2009) and *Kluyveromyces lactis* (Fairhead and Dujon, 2006; Leifso *et al.*, 2007) though no *MAL*-locus identical to *O. polymorpha* has been found.

In addition to the MAL cluster, the nitrate cluster has been described in O. polymorpha. It consists of five genes: a nitrate transporter YNTI, a nitrite reductase YNII, a nitrate reductase YNR1 and transcription factors YNA1 and YNA2 (Silvestrini et al., 2015; Siverio, 2002). Genes required for nitrate assimilation are also clustered in B. (Arxula) adeninivorans (Böer et al., 2009), Aspergillus fumigatus (Amaar and Moore, 1998), A. nidulans (Johnstone et al., 1990) and A. oryzae (Amaar and Moore, 1998; Johnstone et al., 1990; Kitamoto et al., 1995). Recently a gene cluster involved in MEL (mannosylerythritol lipids) biosynthesis was described in basidiomycetous yeast Pseudozyma tsukubaensis (Saika et al., 2016). S. stipitis is exceptionally rich in gene clusters at least 35 clusters of functionally related genes were discovered after sequencing of the genome (Jeffries and Van Vleet, 2009). As noted by Jeffries and Van Vleet (2009), genes coding proteins with physiologically related functions may have a survival advantage when coinherited. Hurst et al. (2004) have proposed the "coregulation" model – metabolic gene clustering through selection for more precise coordination of gene regulation pathway.

3.2. The α-glucoside permease of *O. polymorpha* (Refs I, II and IV)

The putative maltose permease gene *MAL2* from the *MAL* cluster of *O. poly-morpha* was sequenced and the deduced protein sequence was aligned with other permeases (Ref I). Comparison of *O. polymorpha* maltose permease protein (582 aa) deduced from the *MAL2* gene revealed 39–57% identity with yeast maltose permeases (Table 1 in Ref I) with the hypothetical maltose permeases of *D. hansenii* and *C. albicans* being the closest homologs but these transporters have not yet been biochemically characterized. These yeasts are also neighbors on the phylogenetic tree and their maltase proteins are also highly similar (Liiv *et al.*, 2001; Ref I). The closest homolog of *O. polymorpha* MAL2 from *S. cerevisiae* is an experimentally characterized permease – the general α -glucoside transporter AGT1 (identity 41%; Ref I).

To investigate functionality of the MAL2 protein, the *MAL2* gene was disrupted in *O. polymorpha* genome using homologous recombination (Fig 1b in Ref II). The gene disruption was highly (95%) efficient hinting that this is the

only copy of maltose permease gene as previously shown also for the *MAL1* gene (Liiv *et al.*, 2001). The *MAL2* disruptant of *O. polymorpha* mutant lost the ability to grow on maltose, sucrose, trehalose, maltotriose and turanose. Even though the MAL2 permease of *O. polymorpha* is responsible for the transport of trehalose, the MAL1 protein does not hydrolyze this sugar (Liiv *et al.*, 2001) and the *MAL1* disruption mutant of *O. polymorpha* grows on trehalose (Fig 6 in Ref II). Though internalized through the MAL2 permease, trehalose is hydrolyzed in *O. polymorpha* cell not by a maltase but a specific enzyme – trehalase (Ishchuk *et al.*, 2009). Even though MAL2 was responsible for trehalose uptake, its expression was not induced during growth on trehalose (Ref II). Complementation of the permease disruption mutant with the *MAL2* gene on a plasmid restored the growth on maltose and sucrose showing that the MAL2 permease is solely responsible for the transport of these sugars (Ref II). The MAL2 permease was also functional in a *S. cerevisiae* maltose permease-negative mutant restoring its growth on maltose (Ref I).

In addition to natural α -glucosidic sugars the MAL2 permease (and for example the AGT1 permease of *S. cerevisiae*) also transports a synthetic chromogenic α -glucosidic substrate PNPG (Hollatz and Stambuk, 2001; Ref II). PNPG transport is very convinient to measure (Hollatz and Stambuk, 2001) and this is why this method was applied to characterize the properties of the MAL2 permease.

Study of energization of the MAL2 permease indicated that similarly to α glucoside transporters of other yeasts (Stambuk *et al.*, 2000; Hollatz and Stambuk, 2001; Reinders and Ward, 2001), transport by MAL2 of *O. polymorpha* was characterized as energy-dependent proton-symport. In good accordance with that, PNPG transport in *O. polymorpha* was dependent on pH (with pH optimum of 5.0; Fig 4 in Ref II). The pH optimum 5.0 for PNPG transport has previously been shown also for *S. cerevisiae* (Stambuk, 2000). The transport by MAL2 in *O. polymorpha* was sensitive to protonophores-energy uncouplers carbonyl cyanide-*m*-chlorophenylhydrazone (CCCP) and sodium azide (NaN₃) (Table 2 in Ref II).

Inhibition of PNPG transport by various α -glucosidic substrates was used to reveal substrate specificity of the MAL2 permease. The K_i values calculated from inhibition studies reflect the affinity of the MAL2 permease for these sugars. The MAL2 has a high affinity (K_m 0.51 mM) for PNPG (Table 3 in Ref II). The K_m value of the AGT1 permease of *S. cerevisiae* for PNPG is ~3 mM whereas maltose permeases MAL21 and MAL61 of *S. cerevisiae* do not transport PNPG (Table 1 and references therein). Sucrose, maltose, trehalose, maltotriose, turanose and α -MG competitively inhibited the transport by MAL2 in *O. polymorpha* (respective K_i values were between 0.23 and 1.47 mM; Table 3 in Ref II). α -MG is probably able to bind the MAL2 permease and also the MAL1 (inhibits respectively PNPG transport and hydrolysis), but *O. polymorpha* does not grow on this synthetic substrate. High affinity maltose transport system has also reported for *C. utilis* with the K_m for maltose 0.4 mM (Peinado *et al.*, 1987). *S. cerevisiae* AGT1 has much lower affinities for its

substrates (Table 1): K_m for maltose is 5.1–17.8 mM (Day, Higgins, *et al.*, 2002; Stambuk and de Araujo, 2001), K_m for sucrose is ~ 8 mM (Stambuk *et al.*, 2000), K_m for trehalose is 7 mM (Stambuk and de Araujo, 2001) and for maltotriose 4–18.1 mM (Day, Rogers, *et al.*, 2002; Stambuk *et al.*, 2000). Glucose also inhibited PNPG transport by *O. polymorpha* MAL2 ($K_i \sim 1$ mM, but in noncompetitive manner; Table 3 in Ref II).

To conclude, considering a wide range of substrates transported by the MAL2 permease, it should be defined as an α -glucoside permease rather than a maltose permease (Ref II). It was shown using the *MAL2*-disruption mutant that this permease is responsible for the transport of a at least maltose, sucrose, turanose, maltotriose, maltulose, melezitose, isomaltose, palatinose and IMOs (Ref IV).

The affinity of the MAL2 permease for maltose and sucrose is much higher (respective K_i values were 0.23 and 0.38 mM; Table 3 in Ref II) than that of the maltase for these sugars (respective K_m values 51.8 and 25.1 mM; Table 2 in Ref IV). This indicates that these substrates must be concentrated into the cell to enable their efficient hydrolysis. Also, transport is most probably a limiting step in the utilisation of α -glucosidic sugars by *O. polymorpha* as also shown for *S. cerevisiae* (Chang *et al.*, 1989). Transport of α -glucosidic sugars is also crucial for the induction of *MAL* genes. It has been proven for *S. cerevisiae* that intracellular maltose is required for the induction of maltase gene expression (Wang *et al.*, 2002). The same was shown by us for *O. polymorpha* by using a *MAL2*-disruptant mutant – though maltose was present in the growth medium, no maltase gene induction was seen (Table 4 in Ref II).

3.3. Regulation of the *MAL* genes in *O. polymorpha* (Refs I, II and III)

Regulation of the expression from the *MAL1* promoter in *O. polymorpha* and *S. cerevisiae* has been investigated previously (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003). *S. cerevisiae* maltase gene *MAL62* was repressed by glucose and induced by maltose and sucrose when expressed from its native promoter in maltase-negative mutant of *O. polymorpha* (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003). The same was true *vice versa* – the *O. polymorpha MAL1* promoter was recognized and correctly regulated by the carbon source in a *S. cerevisiae* maltase-negative mutant (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003). As the promoters of the maltase genes of these two yeast species were crosswise recognized, it was hypothesized that transcriptional regulators of *S. cerevisiae MAL* genes (MAL-activator and MIG1 repressor) probably participate in the regulation of the expression of the *O. polymorpha* maltase gene (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003). Potential *S. cerevisiae* MAL-activator and MIG1 binding sites in *O. polymorpha* have been discussed by Alamäe *et al.* (2003). It is also interesting that the promoter of the *MAL1* gene of *O. polymorpha* is perfectly recognized in a prokaryote *Escherichia coli* (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003).

Regulation of expression from the bidirectional MAL1-MAL2 promoter region of O. polymorpha was investigated in Ref I by using a single- and a tworeporter test system. The MAL1-MAL2 bidirectional promoter was coordinately regulated by carbon sources in both directions: repressed by glucose and induced by maltose, while the basal expression was higher in the direction of the permease gene (Fig 4 in Ref I). It is reasonable, because the permease activity is first required to provide intracellular maltose that is needed for induction of the MAL genes (Ref II). Coordinated expression by carbon sources has been also described for S. cerevisiae MAL61-MAL62 bi-directional promoter, except that for MAL61-MAL62 the basal expression was higher in the maltase direction (Bell et al., 1995; Levine et al., 1992). As S. cerevisiae strains usually have several MAL loci, they most probably have sufficiently high basal activity of maltose transport to ensure the MAL genes induction. It is also noteworthy that induction of the O. polymorpha bidirectional MALI-MAL2 promoter is stronger in the maltase direction (Table 4 in Ref II) and induced strength of the MAL1 promoter (induced by maltose or sucrose) constitutes up to 70% of that of the MOX promoter (Alamäe et al., 2003). This knowledge can be used in biotechnological applications. The MAL1 promoter has already been successfully used to overexpress and purify a biotechnologically relevant levansucrase protein from E. coli (Visnapuu et al., 2008).

When testing the *O. polymorpha MAL2* permease functionality in a *S. cerevisiae* permease-negative mutant, no growth complementation on maltose was seen when the *MAL2* was expressed from its own promoter (Table 2 in Ref I). Maltose growth appeared only after replacement of the native promoter with that of the *S. cerevisiae* maltose permease gene (Table 2 in Ref I). Thus, the *MAL1-MAL2* promoter of *O. polymorpha* is functional in *S. cerevisiae* only in the direction of the maltase gene. Potential *MAL*-activator and MIG1 repressor binding sites were searched from the *MAL2* promoter region. In *S. cerevisiae* the consensus sequence for *MAL*-activator binding is proposed to be CGG/CN₉CGG/C where N₉ region is AT-rich (Gancedo, 1998). As matching binding sites were not found in *O. polymorpha MAL2* promoter region (unpublished data), it allows to conclude that *S. cerevisiae* MAL-activator most probably cannot bind the *MAL2* promoter and induce the transcription from the *MAL2* gene.

In Ref II the regulation of the *MAL*-activator 1 promoter was also assayed. The intergenic region between the *MAL2* and putative *MAL*-activator 1 gene is AT-rich and rather short (238 bp) (Ref I). The reporter gene assay showed that expression from that promoter region was regulated similarly to *MAL1-MAL2* promoter: induced by maltose and sucrose, repressed by glucose and derepressed during glycerol growth (Table 4 in Ref II). Therefore, the *MAL*-activator 1 gene may encode a functional regulator.

The signal for glucose repression is mediated by hexokinases in *S. cerevisiae*, with the main role of hexokinase PII (HXK2) (see subchapter 1.6.1 for review). *O. polymorpha* has two hexose kinases: a hexokinase phosphorylating both glucose and fructose, and a glucose-specific glucokinase (Kramarenko *et* al., 2000). It has been shown in S. cerevisiae that hexokinase-negative mutants lack glucose repression (Moreno and Herrero, 2002; Zimmermann and Scheel, 1977). In contrast to S. cerevisiae, hexokinase has no specific role in glucose repression in O. polymorpha – the absence of both glucose phosphorylating enzymes is required to abolish glucose repression. In hexokinase-negative mutants only fructose repression is lost whereas glucose repression is retained (Kramarenko et al., 2000). Study of hexose kinase mutants of O. polymorpha showed that monosaccharides glucose and fructose repressed the MAL1 promoter only if these monosaccharides were phosphorylated by the cell, whereas if the cell could not phosphorylate these sugars, activation of the MALI promoter was observed (Table 4 and Fig 8 in Ref III). For example, if a double kinase-negative mutant of O. polymorpha (has no glucose phosphorylating enzymes and cannot grow on glucose) was cultivated on glycerol in the presence of glucose, a high maltase activity was recorded in the cells (Fig 8 in Ref III). This phenomenon allowed to raise a hypothesis according to which phosphorylated glucose (glucose-6-phosphate, Glc6P) acts as a signalling metabolite for sugar repression in O. polymorpha (Fig 7) whereas glucose that stays unphosphorylated acts as an activator of MAL genes (Ref III). Hypothesis on Glc6P as a repressing metabolite is supported by the fact that 2-deoxy-Dglucose (2DG; a glucose analogue) also causes glucose repression even though not metabolized further the phosphorylation step (Ref III).

The proposed scheme of regulation of the expression from *MAL1-MAL2* bidirectional promoter and the role of hexokinase and glucokinase proteins is shown in Figure 7.

It is presumed that O. polymorpha senses by yet unknown mechanism intracellular concentration of Glc6P and in response down-regulates the transcription from MAL1-MAL2 promoters (Ref III). In double kinase-negative mutants of O. polymorpha unphosphorylated glucose accumulates in the cell and activates the transcription of MAL1-MAL2 promoters which are trivially considered glucose-repressible (Fig 7; Ref III). Glc6P also signals for fructose repression as the Fru6P will be isomerized to Glc6P after phosphorylation by hexokinase (Ref III). Considering this hypothesis, growth of yeasts on disaccharides is complicated and metabolism must be well balanced – intracellular hydrolysis products of disaccharides cause initial derepression of MAL genes, but later on may cause MAL promoter repression if phosphorylated glucose accumulates. It has been shown for S. cerevisiae that if transport, intracellular hydrolysis and further catabolism of hydrolysis products is not balanced, the cells lyse due to accumulation of a toxic amount of sugar in the cell (Henderson and Poolman, 2017). Involvement of two potential MAL-activators of O. polymorpha in regulation disaccharides utilization still needs to be investigated.


Figure 7. A hypothetical scheme of regulation of sugar metabolism *via* hexose kinases in *O. polymorpha*. Modified from Figure 5 in Ref III.

3.4. Substrate specificity of *O. polymorpha* maltase protein and its similarity to a hypothetical ancestor of yeast maltases and isomaltases (Ref IV)

Disruption of *MAL1* in the *O. polymorpha* genome and further complementation with a *MAL1* gene on a plasmid confirmed that MAL1 is responsible for the utilization of maltose and sucrose in this yeast (Alamäe *et al.*, 2003; Liiv *et al.*, 2001). Substrate specificity assay of the MAL1 protein in crude extract of *E. coli* expressing the MAL1 showed that it can also hydrolyze α -MG (α -methylglucoside) but cannot hydrolyze trehalose, melibiose and cellobiose concluding that MAL1 is active on α -1,4 (as in maltose) and α -1,2 (as in sucrose) glycosidic linkages (Liiv *et al.*, 2001). So, quite interestingly, *O. polymorpha* MAL1 can hydrolyze both maltose-like (maltose and sucrose) and isomaltose-like (α -MG) substrates. In Ref IV the substrate specificity of MAL1 was investigated in more detail and it was shown that it could hydrolyze the following maltose-like substrates with affinities decreasing in the order: maltulose, maltotriose, sucrose, turanose, maltose and melezitose (Table 2 in Ref IV). From isomaltose-like substrates palatinose was the most suitable substrate, followed by isomaltose and α -MG (Table 2 in Ref IV). It was also

showed that MAL1 hydrolyzed also fructooligosaccharides (FOS) 1-kestose and 6-kestose, this property has not been shown before for α -glucosidases (Fig 2 in Ref IV). Respective products inulo- and levanbiose are short fructooligosaccharides which act as prebiotics for beneficial gut bacteria (Adamberg et al., 2014; Visnapuu et al., 2015). Trisaccharides melezitose and panose are also substrates for MAL1, the preferred linkage type is α -1,3 and α -1,6 respectively over α -1,2 linkage (Ref IV; for monomeric composition of α -glucosidic sugars and linkages see Figure 1). Phylogenetic analysis of α -glucosidase sequences shows that MAL1 of O. polymorpha clusters together with maltase proteins from S. stipitis, L. elongisporus, C. albicans and D. hansenii (Figure 6 in Ref IV). From those yeasts maltase has been characterized only from C. albicans and it hydrolyses maltose, sucrose (maltose-like substrates) and α -MG (an isomaltose-like substrate), but not isomaltose (Geber et al., 1992; Table 2). α-Glucosidase from Torulaspora pretoriensis (phylogenetically close to S. cerevisiae) can use PNPG, maltotriose, isomaltose, α-MG, sucrose and maltose (Oda et al., 1993; Table 2). It was not possible to analyze the substrate specificity-related amino acids of the T. pretoriensis α -glucosidase as respective protein sequence is not available. a-Glucosidases have been also studied in phylogenetically "old" yeast S. pombe. The intracellular MAL1 of S. pombe hydrolyzes PNPG, maltose, sucrose and also dextrin and soluble starch (Chi et al., 2008; Table 2). In addition, S. pombe has extracellular maltase AGL1 which is specific for maltose and does not hydrolyze maltose-like sugars maltotriose and turanose (Jansen et al., 2006; Table 2).

Malt extract and IMOs were also tested as substrates for *O. polymorpha* MAL1 and it can be concluded that the DP4 oligosaccharide is the longest substrate for MAL1 (Fig 2 in Ref IV). From this aspect, MAL1 is different from some other yeast α -glucosidases/maltases. For example, the *S. pombe* extracellular α -glucosidase uses maltooligosaccharides with size up to maltoheptaose (Okuyama *et al.*, 2005). Bacterial α -glucosidases also hydrolyze longer oligosaccharides (up to maltoheptaose) and also polysaccharides starch and dextrin in some cases (Table 3). In older publications, the *O. polymorpha* MAL1 has been defined as a maltase, but according to the substrate specificity it should be rather considered as maltase-isomaltase.

It was also shown that glucose released from maltose and maltotriose has inhibitory effect on the enzyme (Table 3 in Ref IV). As in living yeast cells glucose released from di- and trisaccharides will be further metabolized in the glycolysis, the *in vivo* inhibitory effect of glucose is probably lower than that recorded *in vitro*.

Substrate specificity of the MAL1 and MAL2 proteins can be illustrated by a simple growth ability assay (Table 5).

Table 5. Growth of wild-type (wt) *O. polymorpha* and mutants with deleted maltaseisomaltase ($\Delta MALI$) or α -glucoside permease genes ($\Delta MAL2$) on solid medium supplemented with different α -glucosidic substrates. Table is modified from Table 4 in Ref IV. Maltose-like substrates are on pink backround and isomaltose-like substrates on green backround.

Substrate	Monomers/linkage	O. polymorpha		
		wt	⊿MAL1	∆MAL2
Maltose	Glc a(1-4) Glc	+	-	-
Sucrose	Glc a(1-2) Fru	+	_	_
Turanose	Gic a(1-3) Fru	+	_	_
Maltotriose	Gic a(1-4) Gic a(1-4) Gic	+	_	_
Maltulose	Glc a(1-4) Fru	+	_	_
Melezitose	$Glc \alpha(1-3) Fru \beta(2-1) Glc$	+	_	_
Trehalose		+	+	-
α-MG	GIC – CH ₃	_	-	-
Isomaltose		+	_	_
Palatinose	Glc a(1-6) Fru	+	_	_
Isomaltooligo- saccharides		+	_	_

The data on growth confirmed that wild-type *O. polymorpha* does not grow on α -MG. Reason for this is unclear as the MAL1 protein hydrolyzes α -MG and MAL2 is able to transport this substrate. Both proteins, MAL1 and MAL2, are required for growth on maltose, sucrose, turanose, maltotriose, maltulose, melezitose, isomaltose, palatinose and isomaltooligosaccharides (Table 4 in Ref IV). Only α -glucoside permease is needed for growth on trehalose as this substrate is hydrolyzed in the cell by a trehalase and not by MAL1 (Liiv *et al.*, 2001; Ref II).

As described in subchapter 1.5, *S. cerevisiae* maltases use maltose, maltulose, turanose and maltotriose, isomaltases use isomaltose, α -MG and palatinose, and both use sucrose (see also substrate specificity pattern in Fig 8). Voordeckers *et al.* (2012) raised a hypothesis that modern maltases and isomaltases as those present in *S. cerevisiae* have evolved from a common promiscuous ancestor.

Comparison of the amino acids bordering the active site pocket of α -glucosides from different yeasts showed that maltases have a Thr and isomaltases have a Val at the position corresponding to Val216 in *S. cerevisiae* isomaltase IMA1 (Voordeckers *et al.*, 2012; Table 4). If Val216 was replaced with a Thr in IMA1, the enzyme gained the ability to hydrolyze maltose (Yamamoto *et al.*, 2004). The *O. polymorpha* MAL1 has a Thr at respective position and substitution of Thr200 with a Val in MAL1 reduced the hydrolysis of maltoselike substrates by the enzyme significantly. Thus, the mutant enzyme became more similar to isomaltases (Fig 8).



Figure 8. Catalytic efficiencies, k_{cat}/K_m (mM/min) of *Op* maltase-isomaltase MAL1, ancient maltase ancMALS (G279), maltase of *Lodderomyces elongisporus* (*Le*), maltase MAL12 of *S. cerevisiae* (*Sc*), isomaltase IMA1 of *Sc* and the T200V mutant of the *Op* MAL1 (Fig 3 in Ref IV). Data on other proteins, except for the *Op* MAL1 and its mutant, are taken from Voordeckers *et al.* (2012). Signature amino acid sequence (see Figure 3 in Ref IV and Table 4 of current theses) is presented with the residue corresponding to V216 (Val216) of *Sc* IMA1, shown in red.

A catalytically inactive mutant Asp199Ala (D199A) of MAL1 was constructed and differential scanning fluorimetry (DSF) was performed to evaluate binding of α -glucosides and some selected monosaccharides as ligands to the enzyme (Fig 5 in Ref IV). DSF showed that a trisaccharide maltotriose increased the thermostability of the Asp199Ala protein most significantly suggesting that it binds most strongly to the protein and that substrate binding pocket of MAL1 most probably has two plus-subsites for substrate binding (see also Fig 1 in Ref IV). Three monosaccharide binding subsites have been also shown for the *S. cerevisiae* maltase protein (Yao *et al.*, 2003).

Intriguingly, considering the substrate range and the signature amino acids of the substrate-binding pocket, the OpMAL1 protein is highly similar to ancMALS – a resurrected hypothetical ancestor of *Saccharomyces* maltases and isomaltases (Fig 3 in Ref IV). Even though Voordeckers *et al.* (2012) claimed

that both maltase and isomaltase activities cannot be fully optimized in a single ancestral enzyme, it was shown that MAL1 is a good example of a promiscuous enzyme with perfect catalytic ability to hydrolyze a wide range of substrates.

Gabriško has analyzed putative α -glucosidase proteins from yeasts and suggested that (i) a common ancestor of the Ascomycota had two α -glucosidase genes, (ii) in the subphylum Saccharomycotina the gene coding for isomaltase was lost during the evolution and the gene coding for maltase had further lineage-specific duplication (Gabriško, 2013). Gabriško (2013) suggested that in Saccharomycotina evolution, isomaltase-type specificity of α -glucosidases evolved independently and repeatedly in distinct lineages. Brown et al. (2010) studied the evolution of subtelomeric gene families in yeasts focusing on MAL gene families and suggested that the common ancestor of yeasts had only few MAL genes which have completely disappeared in some yeast lineages whereas in the others multiple recent duplication events occurred. With regard to early ancestry of fungal α -glucosidases, phylogenetic analysis has shown that the α -glucosidase mall of an "ancient" yeast S. pombe shares similarity with α -glucosidases of *Bacillus* bacteria (see Table 4 for signature amino acids) referring that yeast maltases may have bacterial ancestry. Gabriško (2013) has also hypothesized that fungal α -glucosidases may originate from bacterial ancestors.

CONCLUSIONS

The main results of this work are summarized as follows:

- 1. *MAL* genes are genomically clustered in *O. polymorpha* similarly to *S. cerevisiae*, but the cluster is not subtelomeric. *O. polymorpha* has a single genomic *MAL* cluster that consists of four genes coding for maltase (maltaseisomaltase), maltose (α -glucoside) permease and two putative *MAL*activators. *MAL1* and *MAL2* genes are indispensable for utilization of α glucosidic sugars by *O. polymorpha*. Functionality and role of two putative *MAL*-activators still have to be proven.
- 2. The MAL2 transporter of *O. polymorpha* is a proton symporter with pH optimum of 5.0. The MAL2 permease is responsible for the transport of maltose, sucrose, trehalose, turanose, maltotriose, maltulose, melezitose, isomaltose, palatinose and isomaltooligosaccharides.
- 3. The MAL1 protein hydrolyzes maltose-like substrates maltulose, maltotriose, sucrose, turanose, maltose and melezitose and isomaltose-like substrates palatinose, isomaltose and α -methylglucoside. The MAL1 hydrolyzes also fructooligosaccharides 1-kestose and 6-kestose and a trisaccharide panose. Maltotetraose is the longest oligosaccharide hydrolyzed by MAL1.
- 4. *O. polymorpha* MAL1 has a Thr at the key position determining binding of α -glucosidic sugars. Substitution of Thr200 with Val reduces the hydrolysis of maltose-like substrates significantly, making the MAL1 enzyme more similar to isomaltases. Differential scanning fluorimetry (DSF) performed with catalytically inactive mutant Asp199Ala of MAL1 showed that a trisaccharide maltotriose increases the thermostability of the Asp199Ala protein most significantly suggesting that substrate binding pocket of MAL1 has two plus-subsites.
- 5. The MAL1 has a wide-substrate specificity similar to the promiscuous ancestor of maltases and isomaltases predicted by Voordeckers *et al.* (2012). *O. polymorpha* MAL1 has been defined as a maltase (Liiv *et al.*, 2001), but according to currently revealed substrate specificity it should be considered as maltase-isomaltase.
- 6. The *MAL1-MAL2* bidirectional promoter is coordinately regulated in both directions: repressed by glucose and induced by maltose, while the basal expression is higher in the direction of the permease gene. Induction of the bidirectional *MAL1-MAL2* promoter is stronger in the maltase direction. The promoter of *MAL*-activator 1 gene is regulated the same way as *MAL1-MAL2* promoter: induced by maltose and sucrose, repressed by glucose and derepressed during glycerol and trehalose growth. It can be suggested that the gene encodes a functional regulator.
- 7. Monosaccharides glucose and fructose repress the *MAL1* promoter only if phosphorylated in the cell, whereas unphosphorylated monosaccharides activate expression from the *MAL1* promoter. It can be proposed that glucose-6-phosphate is a sugar repression signalling metabolite for *O. polymorpha*.

SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

α-glükosiidsete suhkrute kasutamine pärmil Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha

Suhkrud on looduses laialt levinud ning paljudele mikroorganismidele eelistatuim energiaallikas. Suhkrute transporti ning rakusisest kasutamist on põhjalikult uuritud pagaripärmis *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* tema laialdase kasutuse tõttu pagaritööstuses, alkohoolsete jookide kääritamisel ning ka bioetanooli tootmisel. Õllevirde põhilise komponendi maltoosi (kahest glükoosi molekulist koosnev α -1,4 sidemega seotud disahhariid) kasutamises osalevaid geene nimetatakse *MAL*-geenideks ning need paiknevad pagaripärmil *MAL*-lookuses. Pagaripärmi *MAL*-lookustes on reeglina klasterdunud kolm geeni, mis kodeerivad maltaasi, maltoosi transporterit ning nende geenide aktivaatorit. Need lookused paiknevad genoomis telomeeride lähedal ning pärmil on vaja vähemalt ühte lookust, et maltoosi kasutada.

Tiina Alamäe töögrupis on uuritud suhkrute kasutamist metülotroofsel pärmil *Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha* juba aastast 1998. Metülotroofsed pärmid on pärmide hulgas erandlikud võime poolest kasvada ühesüsinikulisel inimesele väga mürgisel alkoholil – metanoolil. Seetõttu on metülotroofsetes pärmides peamiselt uuritud metanooli metabolismiks vajalike spetsiaalsete organellide – peroksisoomide – biogeneesi ning ka tugevaid metanooliga indutseeritavaid promootoreid, mida saab kasutada biotehnoloogias võõrvalkude tootmiseks. Kuna *O. polymorpha* suudab kasvada ka disahhariididel, näiteks maltoosil ja sahharoosil, saab teda kasutada ka disahhariidide metabolismi geenide, valkude ja regulatsiooni uurimiseks. See annab hea võimaluse võrrelda disahhariidide kasutamist ja selle regulatsiooni pagaripärmil ja temast evolutsiooniliselt palju 'vanemal' pärmil *O. polymorpha*.

Käesoleva töö eesmärgiks oli iseloomustada disahhariidide kasutamiseks vajalikke geene ja valke pärmil *O. polymorpha*. Valkudest oli põhitähelepanu suunatud α -glükosiidide transporterile MAL2 ja maltaas-isomaltaasile MAL1.

O. polymorpha genoomse DNA sekveneerimine näitas, et MAL1 geenil on 'head naabrid'– tema kõrval paikneb α -glükosiidide transporteri geen MAL2 ning kaks hüpoteetilist MAL-aktivaatorgeeni. Seega paiknevad O. polymorpha MAL-geenid genoomse klastrina nagu pagaripärmilgi, erinev on vaid MAL-aktivaator geenide arv (1 vs 2) ja MAL-aktivaator 1 geeni suund. Erinevalt pagaripärmist ei paikne O. polymorpha MAL-lookus subtelomeerselt. Lookuses paiknevatest geenidest tõestasin funktsiooni MAL1 ja MAL2 geenidel ning iseloomustasin vastavaid valke, kuid oletatavate MAL-aktivaator geenide funktsioon vajab veel tõestamist.

Maltaasi MAL1 substraadispetsiifilisuse uurimine näitas, et see ensüüm ei ole tüüpiline maltaas ega ka isomaltaas, sest on võimeline hüdrolüüsima väga paljusid erinevaid α -glükosiidseid suhkruid: maltoosi, maltuloosi, maltotrioosi, sahharoosi, turanoosi ja meletsitoosi (maltoosi-tüüpi suhkrud) ning palatinoosi,

isomaltoosi ja α -metüülglükosiidi (isomaltoosi-tüüpi suhkrud). Seetõttu oleks tema korrektne nimetus maltaas-isomaltaas. Oma substraadivaliku poolest on *O. polymorpha* MAL1 valk väga sarnane tänapäevaste pagaripärmis leiduvate maltaaside ja isomaltaaside hüpoteetilise eellasega – nn 'ürgmaltaasiga', mis oli Voordeckers'i jt. (2012) hüpoteesi kohaselt vähevaliv. Seega võiks *O. polymorpha* maltaas-isomaltaasi pidada ürgse valgu tänapäevaseks esindajaks ja sellise valgu olemasolu pagaripärmist evolutsiooniliselt 'vanemal' pärmil *O. polymorpha* toetab maltaaside ja isomaltaaside evolutsioneerumist vähevalikulisest eellasest.

Uurisin *O. polymorpha* MAL1 valgu substraadivalikut ka mutatsioonanalüüsiga. *S. cerevisiae* maltaasid ja isomaltaasid erinevad substraadi sidumistasku ümbruses paiknevate aminohapete poolest. Pärmide maltaasidest ja isomaltaasidest on kristallstruktuur lahendatud pagaripärmi isomaltaasil 1 (IMA1), mille valgu 216. positsioonis on valiin (Val). Maltaasidel on vastavas positsioonis treoniin (Thr). Näitasin, et *O. polymorpha* MAL1 mutant Thr200Val hüdrolüüsib maltoosi-tüüpi substraate oluliselt kehvemini kui metsiktüüpi MAL1, muutudes seega isomaltaasile sarnasemaks.

O. polymorpha α-glükosiidide permeaas MAL2 on kõrge afiinsusega prootonsümporter. Nii nagu MAL1 valku, iseloomustab ka MAL2 transporterit väga lai substraadivalik. *MAL2* geeni katkestamine genoomis tõestas, et see transporter on vajalik maltoosi, sahharoosi, trehaloosi, turanoosi, maltotrioosi, maltuloosi, meletsitoosi, isomaltoosi, palatinoosi ja isomaltooligosahhariidide transpordiks.

O. polymorpha MAL1 ja *MAL2* geenidel on ühine kahesuunaline promootorala, millelt ekspressioon on mõlema geeni suunas koordineeritult indutseeritud maltoosi ja sahharoosiga ning represseeritud glükoosiga. Induktsioon on tugevam *MAL1* suunal ning basaalne ekspressioon on tugevam permeaasi geeni *MAL2* suunas. *O. polymorpha* mutantide uurimisel selgus, et *MAL1* promootori represseerimiseks glükoosiga on vajalik glükoosi fosforüülimine rakus. Samas on fosforüülimata glükoos võimeline aktiveerima promootori ekspressiooni, mis on väga üllatav tulemus. Püstitasin hüpoteesi, mille kohaselt toimib represseeriva signaalina glükoos-6-fosfaat.

O. polymorpha maltaas-isomaltaasi saaks kasutada valkude evolutsiooni uurimisel mudelina – muteerides teda võiks temast konstrueerida kitsa substraadivalikuga ensüüme, mis on sarnased pagaripärmi maltaasidele ja isomaltaasidele. Kahesuunaline *MAL1-MAL2* promootorala võimaldab samaaegselt ja koordineeritult ekspresseerida kahte erinevat geeni või siis ühe ja sama geeni kahte koopiat. Viimane variant peaks suurendama sünteesitava valgu hulka. Kuna *O. polymorpha MAL1* geeni promootor on äratuntav ka soolekepikeses *E. coli*, on seda juba edukalt kasutatud biotehnoloogilise potentsiaaliga võõrvalgu levaansukraasi ekspresseerimisel ja puhastamisel sellest bakterist.

REFERENCES

- Adamberg, S., Tomson, K., Vija, H., Puurand, M., Kabanova, N., Visnapuu, T., Jõgi, E., Alamäe, T. and Adamberg, K. 2014. Degradation of Fructans and Production of Propionic Acid by *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* are Enhanced by the Shortage of Amino Acids. *Front. Nutr.*, 1: 21.
- Ahuatzi, D., Herrero, P., de la Cera, T. and Moreno, F. 2004. The glucose-regulated nuclear localization of hexokinase 2 in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* is Mig1dependent. J. Biol. Chem., 279: 14440–14446.
- Ahuatzi, D., Riera, A., Peláez, R., Herrero, P. and Moreno, F. 2007. Hxk2 regulates the phosphorylation state of Mig1 and therefore its nucleocytoplasmic distribution. J. Biol. Chem., 282: 4485–4493.
- Alamäe, T. and Liiv, L. 1998. Glucose repression of maltase and methanol-oxidizing enzymes in the methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*: Isolation and study of regulatory mutants. *Folia Microbiol. (Praha)*, 43: 443–452.
- Alamäe, T., Pärn, P., Viigand, K. and Karp, H. 2003. Regulation of the Hansenula polymorpha maltase gene promoter in *H. polymorpha* and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 4: 165–173.
- Alves-Araújo, C., Hernandez-Lopez, M.J., Sousa, M.J., Prieto, J.A. and Randez-Gil, F. 2004. Cloning and characterization of the *MAL11* gene encoding a high-affinity maltose transporter from *Torulaspora delbrueckii*. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 4: 467–476.
- Amaar, Y.G. and Moore, M.M. 1998. Mapping of the nitrate-assimilation gene cluster (*crnA-niiA-niaD*) and characterization of the nitrite reductase gene (*niiA*) in the opportunistic fungal pathogen Aspergillus fumigatus. Curr. Genet., 33: 206–215.
- Ávila, J., González, C., Brito, N., Machín, M., Félix, Pérez, D. and Siverio, J.M. 2002. A second Zn(II)2Cys6 transcriptional factor encoded by the *YNA2* gene is indispensable for the transcriptional activation of the genes involved in nitrate assimilation in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. *Yeast*, **19**: 537–544.
- Bell, P.J.L., Bissinger, P.H., Evans, R.J. and Dawes, I.W. 1995. A two-reporter gene system for the analysis of bi-directional transcription from the divergent *MAL6T*-*MAL6S* promoter in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Curr. Genet.*, 28: 441–446.
- Blandin, G., Llorente, B., Malpertuy, A., Wincker, P., Artiguenave, F. and Dujon, B. 2000. Genomic Exploration of the Hemiascomycetous Yeasts: 13. *Pichia angusta*. *FEBS Lett.*, **487**: 76–81.
- Böer, E., Schröter, A., Bode, R., Piontek, M. and Kunze, G. 2009. Characterization and expression analysis of a gene cluster for nitrate assimilation from the yeast *Arxula adeninivorans*. *Yeast*, **26**: 83–93.
- Brondijk, T.H.C., Rest, M.E. van der, Pluim, D., Vries, Y. de, Stingl, K., Poolman, B. and Konings, W.N. 1998. Catabolite Inactivation of Wild-type and Mutant Maltose Transport Proteins in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biol. Chem.*, 273: 15352–15357.
- Brown, C.A., Murray, A.W. and Verstrepen, K.J. 2010. Rapid expansion and functional divergence of subtelomeric gene families in yeasts. *Curr. Biol. CB*, **20**: 895–903.
- Brzozowski, A.M. and Davies, G.J. 1997. Structure of the *Aspergillus oryzae* α-amylase complexed with the inhibitor acarbose at 2.0 A resolution. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)*, **36**: 10837–10845.
- Buisson, G., Duée, E., Haser, R. and Payan, F. 1987. Three dimensional structure of porcine pancreatic alpha-amylase at 2.9 A resolution. Role of calcium in structure and activity. *EMBO J.*, **6**: 3909–3916.

- Bussereau, F., Casaregola, S., Lafay, J.-F. and Bolotin-Fukuhara, M. 2006. The *Kluy-veromyces lactis* repertoire of transcriptional regulators. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 6: 325–335.
- Carmona, T.A., Barrado, P., Jiménez, A. and Fernández Lobato, M. 2002. Molecular and functional analysis of a MIG1 homologue from the yeast *Schwanniomyces* occidentalis. Yeast Chichester Engl., **19**: 459–465.
- Cassart, J.P., Georis, I., Ostling, J., Ronne, H. and Vandenhaute, J. 1995. The MIG1 repressor from *Kluyveromyces lactis*: cloning, sequencing and functional analysis in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEBS Lett.*, **371**: 191–194.
- Cassart, J.P., Ostling, J., Ronne, H. and Vandenhaute, J. 1997. Comparative analysis in three fungi reveals structurally and functionally conserved regions in the Mig1 repressor. *Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG*, 255: 9–18.
- Chang, Y.S., Dubin, R.A., Perkins, E., Forrest, D., Michels, C.A. and Needleman, R.B. 1988. MAL63 codes for a positive regulator of maltose fermentation in Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Curr. Genet., 14: 201–209.
- Chang, Y.S., Dubin, R.A., Perkins, E., Michels, C.A. and Needleman, R.B. 1989. Identification and characterization of the maltose permease in genetically defined *Saccharomyces* strain. *J. Bacteriol.*, **171**: 6148–6154.
- Charron, M.J., Dubin, R.A. and Michels, C.A. 1986. Structural and functional analysis of the *MAL1* locus of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, **6**: 3891–3899.
- Cheng, Q. and Michels, C.A. 1991. *MAL11* and *MAL61* encode the inducible highaffinity maltose transporter of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Bacteriol., **173**: 1817– 1820.
- Cheng, Q. and Michels, C.A. 1989. The maltose permease encoded by the *MAL61* gene of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* exhibits both sequence and structural homology to other sugar transporters. *Genetics*, **123**: 477–484.
- Chi, Z., Ni, X. and Yao, S. 2008. Cloning and overexpression of a maltase gene from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* in *Escherichia coli* and characterization of the recombinant maltase. *Mycol. Res.*, **112**: 983–989.
- Cihan, A., Ozcan, B., Tekin, N. and Cokmus, C. 2011. Characterization of a thermostable α-glucosidase from *Geobacillus thermodenitrificans* F84a. pp. 945–955.
- Danzi, S.E., Zhang, B. and Michels, C.A. 2000. Alterations in the *Saccharomyces MAL*-activator cause constitutivity but can be suppressed by intragenic mutations. *Curr. Genet.*, **38**: 233–240.
- Daudé, D., Remaud-Siméon, M. and André, I. 2012. Sucrose analogs: an attractive (bio)source for glycodiversification. *Nat. Prod. Rep.*, 29: 945–960.
- Day, R.E., Higgins, V.J., Rogers, P.J. and Dawes, I.W. 2002. Characterization of the putative maltose transporters encoded by *YDL247w* and *YJR160c. Yeast*, **19**: 1015–1027.
- Day, R.E., Rogers, P.J., Dawes, I.W. and Higgins, V.J. 2002. Molecular Analysis of Maltotriose Transport and Utilization by Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Appl. Environ. Microbiol., 68: 5326–5335.
- Delfin, J., Perdomo, W., García, B. and Menendez, J. 2001. Isolation and sequence of the MIG1 homologue from the yeast *Candida utilis*. *Yeast Chichester Engl.*, 18: 597–603.
- Deng, X., Petitjean, M., Teste, M.-A., Kooli, W., Tranier, S., François, J.M. and Parrou, J.-L. 2014. Similarities and differences in the biochemical and enzymological properties of the four isomaltases from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEBS Open Bio*, 4: 200–212.

- Dietvorst, J., Londesborough, J. and Steensma, H.Y. 2005. Maltotriose utilization in lager yeast strains: *MTT1* encodes a maltotriose transporter. *Yeast Chichester Engl.*, 22: 775–788.
- Dubin, R.A., Needleman, R.B., Gossett, D. and Michels, C.A. 1985. Identification of the structural gene encoding maltase within the *MAL6* locus of *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis*. J. Bacteriol., 164: 605–610.
- Egeter, O. and Brückner, R. 1995. Characterization of a genetic locus essential for maltose-maltotriose utilization in *Staphylococcus xylosus*. J. Bacteriol., **177**: 2408–2415.
- Fairhead, C. and Dujon, B. 2006. Structure of *Kluyveromyces lactis* subtelomeres: duplications and gene content. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, **6**: 428–441.
- Federoff, H.J., Eccleshall, T.R. and Marmur, J. 1983. Carbon catabolite repression of maltase synthesis in *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis*. J. Bacteriol., **156**: 301–307.
- Feldmann, H. 2000. Génolevures a novel approach to "evolutionary genomics." *FEBS Lett.*, **487**: 1–2.
- Gabriško, M. 2013. Evolutionary history of eukaryotic α-glucosidases from the α-amylase family. J. Mol. Evol., **76**: 129–145.
- Gallone, B., Steensels, J., Prahl, T., Soriaga, L., Saels, V., Herrera-Malaver, B., Merlevede, A., Roncoroni, M., Voordeckers, K., Miraglia, L., Teiling, C., Steffy, B., Taylor, M., Schwartz, A., Richardson, T., White, C., Baele, G., Maere, S. and Verstrepen, K.J. 2016. Domestication and divergence of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* beer yeasts. *Cell*, 166: 1397–1410.e16.
- Gancedo, J.M. 2008. The early steps of glucose signalling in yeast. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, **32**: 673–704.
- Gancedo, J.M. 1998. Yeast carbon catabolite repression. *Microbiol. Mol. Biol. Rev. MMBR*, **62**: 334–361.
- Geber, A., Williamson, P.R., Rex, J.H., Sweeney, E.C. and Bennett, J.E. 1992. Cloning and characterization of a *Candida albicans* maltase gene involved in sucrose utilization. *J. Bacteriol.*, **174**: 6992–6996.
- Gericke, B., Amiri, M. and Naim, H.Y. 2016. The multiple roles of sucrase-isomaltase in the intestinal physiology. *Mol. Cell. Pediatr.*, **3**: 2.
- Goffrini, P., Ferrero, I. and Donnini, C. 2002. Respiration-dependent utilization of sugars in yeasts: a determinant role for sugar transporters. J. Bacteriol., 184: 427– 432.
- Grigoriev, I.V., Nikitin, R., Haridas, S., Kuo, A., Ohm, R., Otillar, R., Riley, R., Salamov, A., Zhao, X., Korzeniewski, F., Smirnova, T., Nordberg, H., Dubchak, I. and Shabalov, I. 2014. MycoCosm portal: gearing up for 1000 fungal genomes. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 42: D699–D704.
- Han, E.K., Cotty, F., Sottas, C., Jiang, H. and Michels, C.A. 1995. Characterization of *AGT1* encoding a general α-glucoside transporter from *Saccharomyces. Mol. Microbiol.*, 17: 1093–1107.
- Henderson, R. and Poolman, B. 2017. Proton-solute coupling mechanism of the maltose transporter from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Sci. Rep.*, **7**: 14375.
- Hicke, L., Zanolari, B., Pypaert, M., Rohrer, J. and Riezman, H. 1997. Transport through the yeast endocytic pathway occurs through morphologically distinct compartments and requires an active secretory pathway and Sec18p/N-ethylmaleimide-sensitive fusion protein. *Mol. Biol. Cell*, **8**: 13.

- Hobbs, J.K., Jiao, W., Easter, A.D., Parker, E.J., Schipper, L.A. and Arcus, V.L. 2013. Change in heat capacity for enzyme catalysis determines temperature dependence of enzyme catalyzed rates. ACS Chem. Biol., 8: 2388–2393.
- Hollatz, C. and Stambuk, B.U. 2001. Colorimetric determination of active α-glucoside transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Microbiol. Methods, **46**: 253–259.
- Hurst, L.D., Pál, C. and Lercher, M.J. 2004. The evolutionary dynamics of eukaryotic gene order. *Nat. Rev. Genet.*, **5**: 299–310.
- Ishchuk, O.P., Voronovsky, A.Y., Abbas, C.A. and Sibirny, A.A. 2009. Construction of *Hansenula polymorpha* strains with improved thermotolerance. *Biotechnol. Bioeng.*, 104: 911–919.
- Janecek, S. 2009. Amylolytic enzymes-focus on the alpha-amylases from archaea and plants. *Nova Biotechnol.*, **9**.
- Jansen, M.L.A., Krook, D.J.J., De Graaf, K., Van Dijken, J.P., Pronk, J.T. and De Winde, J.H. 2006. Physiological characterization and fed-batch production of an extracellular maltase of *Schizosaccharomyces pombe* CBS 356. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 6: 888–901.
- Jeffries, T.W., Grigoriev, I.V., Grimwood, J., Laplaza, J.M., Aerts, A., Salamov, A., Schmutz, J., Lindquist, E., Dehal, P., Shapiro, H., Jin, Y.-S., Passoth, V. and Richardson, P.M. 2007. Genome sequence of the lignocellulose-bioconverting and xylose-fermenting yeast *Pichia stipitis*. *Nat. Biotechnol.*, 25: 319–326.
- Jeffries, T.W. and Van Vleet, J.R.H. 2009. *Pichia stipitis* genomics, transcriptomics, and gene clusters. *Fems Yeast Res.*, **9**: 793–807.
- Jiang, H., Medintz, I., Zhang, B. and Michels, C.A. 2000. Metabolic signals trigger glucose-induced inactivation of maltose permease in *Saccharomyces. J. Bacteriol.*, 182: 647–654.
- Johnstone, I.L., McCabe, P.C., Greaves, P., Gurr, S.J., Cole, G.E., Brow, M.A., Unkles, S.E., Clutterbuck, A.J., Kinghorn, J.R. and Innis, M.A. 1990. Isolation and characterisation of the *crnA-niiA-niaD* gene cluster for nitrate assimilation in *Aspergillus nidulans*. *Gene*, **90**: 181–192.
- Karp, H. and Alamäe, T. 1998. Glucose transport in a methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, **166**: 267–273.
- Kato, H., Kira, S. and Kawamukai, M. 2013. The transcription factors Atf1 and Pcr1 are essential for transcriptional induction of the extracellular maltase Agl1 in fission yeast. *PloS One*, **8**: e80572.
- Kayikci, Ö. and Nielsen, J. 2015. Glucose repression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 15.
- Kelly, C.T., Moriarty, M.E. and Fogarty, W.M. 1985. Thermostable extracellular αamylase and α-glucosidase of *Lipomyces starkeyi*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, **22**: 352–358.
- Kelly, R. and Kwon-Chung, K.J. 1992. A zinc finger protein from *Candida albicans* is involved in sucrose utilization. *J. Bacteriol.*, **174**: 222–232.
- Keppler, F., Hamilton, J.T.G., Braß, M. and Röckmann, T. 2006. Methane emissions from terrestrial plants under aerobic conditions. *Nature*, 439: 187–191.
- Kim, J. and Michels, C.A. 1988. The *MAL63* gene of *Saccharomyces* encodes a cysteine-zinc finger protein. *Curr. Genet.*, 14: 319–323.
- Kim, N.-R., Jeong, D.-W., Ko, D.-S. and Shim, J.-H. 2017. Characterization of novel thermophilic alpha-glucosidase from *Bifidobacterium longum*. Int. J. Biol. Macromol., 99: 594–599.

- Kitamoto, N., Kimura, T., Kito, Y., Ohmiya, K. and Tsukagoshi, N. 1995. The nitrate reductase gene from a shoyu koji mold, *Aspergillus oryzae* KBN616. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, **59**: 1795–1797.
- Klein, C.J., Olsson, L. and Nielsen, J. 1998. Glucose control in Saccharomyces cerevisiae: the role of Mig1 in metabolic functions. *Microbiol. Read. Engl.*, 144 (Pt 1): 13–24.
- Klein, C.J., Olsson, L., Rønnow, B., Mikkelsen, J.D. and Nielsen, J. 1996. Alleviation of glucose repression of maltose metabolism by *MIG1* disruption in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **62**: 4441–4449.
- Krakenaĭte, R.P. and Glemzha, A.A. 1983. Some properties of two forms of alphaglucosidase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*-II. *Biokhimiia Mosc. Russ.*, **48**: 62–68.
- Kramarenko, T., Karp, H., Järviste, A. and Alamäe, T. 2000. Sugar repression in the methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* studied by using hexokinase-negative, glucokinase-negative and double kinase-negative mutants. *Folia Microbiol. (Praha)*, **45**: 521–529.
- Kubota, M., Tsuji, M., Nishimoto, M., Wongchawalit, J., Okuyama, M., Mori, H., Matsui, H., Surarit, R., Svasti, J., Kimura, A. and Chiba, S. 2004. Localization of αglucosidases I, II, and III in organs of European honeybees, *Apis mellifera* L., and the origin of α-glucosidase in honey. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, 68: 2346–2352.
- Kunze, G., Gaillardin, C., Czernicka, M., Durrens, P., Martin, T., Böer, E., Gabaldón, T., Cruz, J.A., Talla, E., Marck, C., Goffeau, A., Barbe, V., Baret, P., Baronian, K., Beier, S., Bleykasten, C., Bode, R., Casaregola, S., Despons, L., *et al.* 2014. The complete genome of *Blastobotrys (Arxula) adeninivorans* LS3 – a yeast of biotechnological interest. *Biotechnol. Biofuels*, 7: 66.
- Laht, S., Karp, H., Kotka, P., Järviste, A. and Alamäe, T. 2002. Cloning and characterization of glucokinase from a methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*: different effects on glucose repression in *H. polymorpha* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Gene*, **296**: 195–203.
- Lee, G.-Y., Jung, J.-H., Seo, D.-H., Hansin, J., Ha, S.-J., Cha, J., Kim, Y.-S. and Park, C.-S. 2011. Isomaltulose production via yeast surface display of sucrose isomerase from *Enterobacter* sp. FMB-1 on *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Bioresour*. *Technol.*, 102: 9179–9184.
- Leifso, K.R., Williams, D. and Hintz, W.E. 2007. Heterologous expression of cyan and yellow fluorescent proteins from the *Kluyveromyces lactis KlMAL21–KlMAL22* bidirectional promoter. *Biotechnol. Lett.*, **29**: 1233–1241.
- Levine, J., Tanouye, L. and Michels, C.A. 1992. The UAS(MAL) is a bidirectional promotor element required for the expression of both the *MAL61* and *MAL62* genes of the *Saccharomyces MAL6* locus. *Curr. Genet.*, **22**: 181–189.
- Liiv, L., Pärn, P. and Alamäe, T. 2001. Cloning of maltase gene from a methylotrophic yeast, *Hansenula polymorpha*. *Gene*, **265**: 77–85.
- Limtong, S., Srisuk, N., Yongmanitchai, W., Yurimoto, H. and Nakase, T. 2008. Ogataea chonburiensis sp. nov. and Ogataea nakhonphanomensis sp. nov., thermotolerant, methylotrophic yeast species isolated in Thailand, and transfer of Pichia siamensis and Pichia thermomethanolica to the genus Ogataea. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol., 58: 302–307.
- Löbs, A.-K., Schwartz, C. and Wheeldon, I. 2017. Genome and metabolic engineering in non-conventional yeasts: Current advances and applications. *Synth. Syst. Biotechnol.*, 2: 198–207.

- Lombard, V., Golaconda Ramulu, H., Drula, E., Coutinho, P.M. and Henrissat, B. 2014. The carbohydrate-active enzymes database (CAZy) in 2013. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 42: D490–D495.
- Lucero, P., Herweijer, M. and Lagunas, R. 1993. Catabolite inactivation of the yeast maltose transporter is due to proteolysis. *FEBS Lett.*, **333**: 165–168.
- Lundin, M., Nehlin, J.O. and Ronne, H. 1994. Importance of a flanking AT-rich region in target site recognition by the GC box-binding zinc finger protein MIG1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.*, 14: 1979–1985.
- Lunn, J.E. 2002. Evolution of sucrose synthesis. *Plant Physiol.*, 128: 1490–1500.
- Magalhães, F., Vidgren, V., Ruohonen, L. and Gibson, B. 2016. Maltose and maltotriose utilisation by group I strains of the hybrid lager yeast *Saccharomyces pastorianus*. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, **16**: fow053.
- Mäkeläinen, H., Hasselwander, O., Rautonen, N. and Ouwehand, A.C. 2009. Panose, a new prebiotic candidate. *Lett. Appl. Microbiol.*, **49**: 666–672.
- Marín, D., Linde, D. and Fernández Lobato, M. 2006. Purification and biochemical characterization of an alpha-glucosidase from *Xanthophyllomyces dendrorhous*. *Yeast Chichester Engl.*, 23: 117–125.
- Matsuura, Y., Kusunoki, M., Harada, W. and Kakudo, M. 1984. Structure and possible catalytic residues of Taka-amylase A. J. Biochem. (Tokyo), 95: 697–702.
- Mayordomo, I. and Sanz, P. 2001. Hexokinase PII: structural analysis and glucose signalling in the yeast Saccharomyces cerevisiae. Yeast Chichester Engl., 18: 923– 930.
- Medintz, I., Jiang, H., Han, E.K., Cui, W. and Michels, C.A. 1996. Characterization of the glucose-induced inactivation of maltose permease in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *J. Bacteriol.*, **178**: 2245–2254.
- Medintz, I., Jiang, H. and Michels, C.A. 1998. The role of ubiquitin conjugation in glucose-induced proteolysis of *Saccharomyces* maltose permease. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 273: 34454–34462.
- Medintz, I., Wang, X., Hradek, T. and Michels, C.A. 2000. A PEST-like sequence in the N-terminal cytoplasmic domain of *Saccharomyces* maltose permease is required for glucose-induced proteolysis and rapid inactivation of transport activity. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)*, **39**: 4518–4526.
- Meurer, M., Chevyreva, V., Cerulus, B. and Knop, M. 2017. The regulatable *MAL32* promoter in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: characteristics and tools to facilitate its use. *Yeast Chichester Engl.*, **34**: 39–49.
- Morais, P.B., Teixeira, L.C.R.S., Bowles, J.M., Lachance, M.-A. and Rosa, C.A. 2004. Ogataea falcaomoraisii sp. nov., a sporogenous methylotrophic yeast from tree exudates. FEMS Yeast Res., 5: 81–85.
- Moreno, F. and Herrero, P. 2002. The hexokinase 2-dependent glucose signal transduction pathway of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Microbiol*. *Rev.*, **26**: 83–90.
- Nakagawa, T., Yamada, K., Fujimura, S., Ito, T., Miyaji, T. and Tomizuka, N. 2005. Pectin utilization by the methylotrophic yeast *Pichia methanolica*. *Microbiol. Read. Engl.*, **151**: 2047–2052.
- Naumoff, D.G. and Naumov, G.I. 2010. Discovery of a novel family of α-glucosidase *IMA* genes in yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Dokl. Biochem. Biophys.*, **432**: 114–116.
- Naumov, G.I., Naumova, E.S., Kondratieva, V.I., Bulat, S.A., Mironenko, N.V., Mendonça-Hagler, L.C. and Hagler, A.N. 1997. Genetic and Molecular Delineation

of Three Sibling Species in the *Hansenula polymorpha* Complex. *Syst. Appl. Microbiol.*, **20**: 50–56.

- Naumova, E.S., Dmitruk, K.V., Kshanovskaya, B.V., Sibirny, A.A. and Naumov, G.I. 2013. Molecular identification of the industrially important strain *Ogataea parapolymorpha*. *Microbiology*, **82**: 453–458.
- Needham, P.G. and Trumbly, R.J. 2006. In vitro characterization of the Mig1 repressor from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* reveals evidence for monomeric and higher molecular weight forms. *Yeast Chichester Engl.*, 23: 1151–1166.
- Needleman, R. 1991. Control of maltase synthesis in yeast. *Mol. Microbiol.*, **5**: 2079–2084.
- Needleman, R.B., Federoff, H.J., Eccleshall, T.R., Buchferer, B. and Marmur, J. 1978. Purification and characterization of an alpha-glucosidase from *Saccharomyces carlsbergensis*. *Biochemistry (Mosc.)*, **17**: 4657–4661.
- Needleman, R.B., Kaback, D.B., Dubin, R.A., Perkins, E.L., Rosenberg, N.G., Sutherland, K.A., Forrest, D.B. and Michels, C.A. 1984. *MAL6* of *Saccharomyces*: a complex genetic locus containing three genes required for maltose fermentation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, 81: 2811–2815.
- Negruță, O., Csutak, O., Stoica, I., Elena, R. and Vassu, T. 2010. Methylotrophic yeasts: Diversity and methanol metabolism. *Romanian Biotechnol. Lett.*, **15**.
- Nehlin, J.O., Carlberg, M. and Ronne, H. 1991. Control of yeast *GAL* genes by MIG1 repressor: a transcriptional cascade in the glucose response. *EMBO J.*, **10**: 3373–3377.
- Nehlin, J.O. and Ronne, H. 1990. Yeast MIG1 repressor is related to the mammalian early growth response and Wilms' tumour finger proteins. *EMBO J.*, **9**: 2891–2898.
- Nemecek-Marshall, M., MacDonald, R.C., Franzen, J.J., Wojciechowski, C.L. and Fall, R. 1995. Methanol Emission from Leaves (Enzymatic Detection of Gas-Phase Methanol and Relation of Methanol Fluxes to Stomatal Conductance and Leaf Development). *Plant Physiol.*, **108**: 1359–1368.
- Nishimoto, M., Kubota, M., Tsuji, M., Mori, H., Kimura, A., Matsui, H. and Chiba, S. 2001. Purification and substrate specificity of honeybee, *Apis mellifera* L., α-glucosidase III. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, **65**: 1610–1616.
- Novak, S., Zechner-Krpan, V. and Marić, V. 2004. Regulation of Maltose Transport and Metabolism in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Food Technol. Biotechnol.*, **42**: 213–218.
- Oda, Y., Iwamoto, H., Hiromi, K. and Tonomura, K. 1993. Purification and characterization of alpha-glucosidase from *Torulaspora pretoriensis* YK-1. *Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem.*, 57: 1902–1905.
- Okuyama, M., Tanimoto, Y., Ito, T., Anzai, A., Mori, H., Kimura, A., Matsui, H. and Chiba, S. 2005. Purification and characterization of the hyper-glycosylated extracellular α-glucosidase from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*. *Enzyme Microb. Technol.*, **37**: 472–480.
- Peinado, J.M., Barbero, A. and Uden, N. van. 1987. Repression and inactivation by glucose of the maltose transport system of *Candida utilis*. *Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol.*, 26: 154–157.
- Qian, M., Haser, R. and Payan, F. 1993. Structure and molecular model refinement of pig pancreatic alpha-amylase at 2.1 A resolution. J. Mol. Biol., 231: 785–799.
- Ramezani-Rad, M., Hollenberg, C.P., Lauber, J., Wedler, H., Griess, E., Wagner, C., Albermann, K., Hani, J., Piontek, M., Dahlems, U. and Gellissen, G. 2003. The *Hansenula polymorpha* (strain CBS4732) genome sequencing and analysis. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 4: 207–215.

- Ravin, N.V., Eldarov, M.A., Kadnikov, V.V., Beletsky, A.V., Schneider, J., Mardanova, E.S., Smekalova, E.M., Zvereva, M.I., Dontsova, O.A., Mardanov, A.V. and Skryabin, K.G. 2013. Genome sequence and analysis of methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha* DL1. *BMC Genomics*, 14: 837.
- Reinders, A. and Ward, J.M. 2001. Functional characterization of the α-glucoside transporter Sut1p from *Schizosaccharomyces pombe*, the first fungal homologue of plant sucrose transporters. *Mol. Microbiol.*, **39**: 445–455.
- Riley, R., Haridas, S., Wolfe, K.H., Lopes, M.R., Hittinger, C.T., Göker, M., Salamov, A.A., Wisecaver, J.H., Long, T.M., Calvey, C.H., Aerts, A.L., Barry, K.W., Choi, C., Clum, A., Coughlan, A.Y., Deshpande, S., Douglass, A.P., Hanson, S.J., Klenk, H.-P., *et al.* 2016. Comparative genomics of biotechnologically important yeasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A.*, **113**: 9882–9887.
- Rolfsmeier, M. and Blum, P. 1995. Purification and characterization of a maltase from the extremely thermophilic crenarchaeote *Sulfolobus solfataricus*. J. Bacteriol., 177: 482–485.
- Ronne, H. 1995. Glucose repression in fungi. Trends Genet. TIG, 11: 12-17.
- Saika, A., Koike, H., Fukuoka, T., Yamamoto, S., Kishimoto, T. and Morita, T. 2016. A Gene Cluster for Biosynthesis of Mannosylerythritol Lipids Consisted of 4-O-β-D-Mannopyranosyl-(2R,3S)-Erythritol as the Sugar Moiety in a Basidiomycetous Yeast *Pseudozyma tsukubaensis*. *PloS One*, **11**: e0157858.
- Salema-Oom, M., Valadão Pinto, V., Gonçalves, P. and Spencer-Martins, I. 2005. Maltotriose utilization by industrial *Saccharomyces* strains: characterization of a new member of the alpha-glucoside transporter family. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, 71: 5044–5049.
- Santangelo, G.M. 2006. Glucose signaling in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Microbiol*. *Mol. Biol. Rev. MMBR*, **70**: 253–282.
- Sawale, P.D., Shendurse, A.M., Mohan, M.S. and Patil, G.R. 2017. Isomaltulose (Palatinose) An emerging carbohydrate. *Food Biosci.*, **18**: 46–52.
- Schönert, S., Buder, T. and Dahl, M.K. 1998. Identification and enzymatic characterization of the maltose-inducible α-glucosidase MalL (sucrase-isomaltase-maltase) of *Bacillus subtilis*. J. Bacteriol., **180**: 2574–2578.
- Schönert, S., Buder, T. and Dahl, M.K. 1999. Properties of maltose-inducible α-glucosidase MalL (sucrase-isomaltase-maltase) in *Bacillus subtilis*: evidence for its contribution to maltodextrin utilization. *Res. Microbiol.*, **150**: 167–177.
- Shen, X., Saburi, W., Gai, Z., Kato, K., Ojima-Kato, T., Yu, J., Komoda, K., Kido, Y., Matsui, H., Mori, H. and Yao, M. 2015. Structural analysis of the α-glucosidase HaG provides new insights into substrate specificity and catalytic mechanism. *Acta Crystallogr. D Biol. Crystallogr.*, **71**: 1382–1391.
- Shirai, T., Hung, V.S., Morinaka, K., Kobayashi, T. and Ito, S. 2008. Crystal structure of GH13 α-glucosidase GSJ from one of the deepest sea bacteria. *Proteins*, **73**: 126– 133.
- Sibirny, A.A., Titorenko, V.I., Gonchar, M.V., Ubiyvovk, V.M., Ksheminskaya, G.P. and Vitvitskaya, O.P. 1988. Genetic control of methanol utilization in yeasts. *J. Basic Microbiol.*, **28**: 293–319.
- Silvestrini, L., Rossi, B., Gallmetzer, A., Mathieu, M., Scazzocchio, C., Berardi, E. and Strauss, J. 2015. Interaction of Yna1 and Yna2 Is required for nuclear accumulation and transcriptional activation of the nitrate assimilation pathway in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. *PLoS ONE*, **10**: e0135416.

- Sim, L., Willemsma, C., Mohan, S., Naim, H.Y., Pinto, B.M. and Rose, D.R. 2010. Structural basis for substrate selectivity in human maltase-glucoamylase and sucrase-isomaltase N-terminal domains. *J. Biol. Chem.*, 285: 17763–17770.
- Sims, A.P., Kopetzki, E., Schulz, B. and Barnett, J.A. 1984. The Use of Phenolic Glycosides for Studying the Aerobic or Anaerobic Transport of Disaccharides into Yeasts. *Microbiology*, **130**: 1933–1940.
- Sirenko, O.I., Ni, B. and Needleman, R.B. 1995. Purification and binding properties of the Mal63p activator of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Curr. Genet.*, **27**: 509–516.
- Siverio, J.M. 2002. Assimilation of nitrate by yeasts. *FEMS Microbiol. Rev.*, **26**: 277–284.
- Slot, J.C. and Rokas, A. 2010. Multiple GAL pathway gene clusters evolved independently and by different mechanisms in fungi. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci., 107: 10136– 10141.
- Stambuk, B.U. 2000. A simple laboratory exercise illustrating active transport in yeast cells. *Biochem. Mol. Biol. Educ.*, 28: 313–317.
- Stambuk, B.U., Batista, A.S. and De Araujo, P.S. 2000. Kinetics of active sucrose transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. J. Biosci. Bioeng., **89**: 212–214.
- Stambuk, B.U., da Silva, M.A., Panek, A.D. and de Araujo, P.S. 1999. Active α-glucoside transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, **170**: 105–110.
- Stambuk, B.U. and de Araujo, P.S. 2001. Kinetics of active α-glucoside transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res.*, 1: 73–78.
- Stasyk, O.G., Maidan, M.M., Stasyk, O.V., Van Dijck, P., Thevelein, J.M. and Sibirny, A.A. 2008. Identification of hexose transporter-like sensor HXS1 and functional hexose transporter HXT1 in the methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. *Eukaryot. Cell*, 7: 735–746.
- Stasyk, O.G., van Zutphen, T., Ah Kang, H., Stasyk, O.V., Veenhuis, M. and Sibirny, A.A. 2007. The role of *Hansenula polymorpha* MIG1 homologues in catabolite repression and pexophagy. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 7: 1103–1113.
- Stasyk, O.V., Stasyk, O.G., Komduur, J., Veenhuis, M., Cregg, J.M. and Sibirny, A.A. 2004. A hexose transporter homologue controls glucose repression in the methylotrophic yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. J. Biol. Chem., 279: 8116–8125.
- Stewart, G.G. 2016. Saccharomyces species in the production of beer. Beverages, 2.
- Teste, M.-A., Francois, J.M. and Parrou, J.-L. 2010. Characterization of a new multigene family encoding isomaltases in the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*, the *IMA* family. J. Biol. Chem., 285: 26815–26824.
- Trichez, D. 2007. Identificação de resíduos de aminoácidos envolvidos no transporte ativo de açúcares pela permease AGT1 de *saccharomyces cerevisiae*.
- Tsujimoto, Y., Tanaka, H., Takemura, R., Yokogawa, T., Shimonaka, A., Matsui, H., Kashiwabara, S., Watanabe, K. and Suzuki, Y. 2007. Molecular Determinants of Substrate Recognition in Thermostable α-glucosidases Belonging to Glycoside Hydrolase Family 13. *J. Biochem. (Tokyo)*, **142**: 87–93.
- Vagnoli, P., Coons, D.M. and Bisson, L.F. 1998. The C-terminal domain of Snf3p mediates glucose-responsive signal transduction in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Microbiol. Lett.*, 160: 31–36.
- Van Leeuwen, C.C., Weusthuis, R.A., Postma, E., Van den Broek, P.J. and Van Dijken, J.P. 1992. Maltose/proton co-transport in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Comparative study with cells and plasma membrane vesicles. *Biochem. J.*, **284 (Pt 2)**: 441–445.

- Vanoni, M., Sollitti, P., Goldenthal, M. and Marmur, J. 1989. Structure and regulation of the multigene family controlling maltose fermentation in budding yeast. *Prog. Nucleic Acid Res. Mol. Biol.*, 37: 281–322.
- Vidgren, V., Huuskonen, A., Virtanen, H., Ruohonen, L. and Londesborough, J. 2009. Improved Fermentation Performance of a Lager Yeast after Repair of Its *AGT1* Maltose and Maltotriose Transporter Genes. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **75**: 2333– 2345.
- Vidgren, V., Ruohonen, L. and Londesborough, J. 2005. Characterization and functional analysis of the *MAL* and *MPH* Loci for maltose utilization in some ale and lager yeast strains. *Appl. Environ. Microbiol.*, **71**: 7846–7857.
- Visnapuu, T., Mäe, A. and Alamäe, T. 2008. Hansenula polymorpha maltase gene promoter with sigma 70-like elements is feasible for Escherichia coli-based biotechnological applications: Expression of three genomic levansucrase genes of Pseudomonas syringae pv. tomato. Process Biochem., 43: 414–422.
- Visnapuu, T., Mardo, K. and Alamäe, T. 2015. Levansucrases of a *Pseudomonas* syringae pathovar as catalysts for the synthesis of potentially prebiotic oligo- and polysaccharides. *New Biotechnol.*, **32**: 597–605.
- Voordeckers, K., Brown, C.A., Vanneste, K., van der Zande, E., Voet, A., Maere, S. and Verstrepen, K.J. 2012. Reconstruction of ancestral metabolic enzymes reveals molecular mechanisms underlying evolutionary innovation through gene duplication. *PLoS Biol.*, **10**: e1001446.
- Wang, J. and Needleman, R. 1996. Removal of Mig1p binding site converts a MAL63 constitutive mutant derived by interchromosomal gene conversion to glucose insensitivity. *Genetics*, 142: 51–63.
- Wang, J., Sirenko, O. and Needleman, R. 1997. Genomic footprinting of Mig1p in the MAL62 promoter. Binding is dependent upon carbon source and competitive with the Mal63p activator. J. Biol. Chem., 272: 4613–4622.
- Wang, X., Bali, M., Medintz, I. and Michels, C.A. 2002. Intracellular Maltose Is Sufficient To Induce *MAL* Gene Expression in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *Eukaryot*. *Cell*, 1: 696–703.
- Watanabe, K., Hata, Y., Kizaki, H., Katsube, Y. and Suzuki, Y. 1997. The refined crystal structure of *Bacillus cereus* oligo-1,6-glucosidase at 2.0 A resolution: structural characterization of proline-substitution sites for protein thermostabilization. *J. Mol. Biol.*, 269: 142–153.
- Wieczorke, R., Krampe, S., Weierstall, T., Freidel, K., Hollenberg, C.P. and Boles, E. 1999. Concurrent knock-out of at least 20 transporter genes is required to block uptake of hexoses in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEBS Lett.*, **464**: 123–128.
- Wolf, K. 1996. Nonconventional Yeasts in Biotechnology: A Handbook.
- Wong, S. and Wolfe, K.H. 2005. Birth of a metabolic gene cluster in yeast by adaptive gene relocation. *Nat. Genet.*, **37**: 777–782.
- Yamamoto, K., Miyake, H., Kusunoki, M. and Osaki, S. 2010. Crystal structures of isomaltase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* and in complex with its competitive inhibitor maltose: Crystal structure of isomaltase. *FEBS J.*, 277: 4205–4214.
- Yamamoto, K., Miyake, H., Kusunoki, M. and Osaki, S. 2011. Steric hindrance by 2 amino acid residues determines the substrate specificity of isomaltase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae. J. Biosci. Bioeng.*, **112**: 545–550.
- Yamamoto, K., Nakayama, A., Yamamoto, Y. and Tabata, S. 2004. Val216 decides the substrate specificity of α-glucosidase in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*: Substrate specificity of α-glucosidase. *Eur. J. Biochem.*, **271**: 3414–3420.

- Yao, B., Sollitti, P., Zhang, X. and Marmur, J. 1994. Shared control of maltose induction and catabolite repression of the *MAL* structural genes in *Saccharomyces. Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG*, 243: 622–630.
- Yao, X., Mauldin, R. and Byers, L. 2003. Multiple sugar binding sites in α-glucosidase. Biochim. Biophys. Acta, 1645: 22–29.
- Yurimoto, H., Oku, M. and Sakai, Y. 2011. Yeast methylotrophy: metabolism, gene regulation and peroxisome homeostasis. *Int. J. Microbiol.*, 2011: 101298.
- Zaragoza, O., Rodríguez, C. and Gancedo, C. 2000. Isolation of the *MIG1* Gene from *Candida albicans* and Effects of Its Disruption on Catabolite Repression. J. Bacteriol., 182: 320–326.
- Zimmermann, F.K. and Entian, K.-D. 1997. Yeast Sugar Metabolism.
- Zimmermann, F.K., Kaufmann, I., Rasenberger, H. and Haubetamann, P. 1977. Genetics of carbon catabolite repression in *Saccharomycess cerevisiae*: genes involved in the derepression process. *Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG*, **151**: 95–103.
- Zimmermann, F.K. and Scheel, I. 1977. Mutants of *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* resistant to carbon catabolite repression. *Mol. Gen. Genet. MGG*, **154**: 75–82.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First of all, I would like to express my enormous gratitude to my supervisor Tiina Alamäe for giving me the opportunity to be part of her fantastic team and complete my bachelor and master studies in her group and continue with my doctoral studies. Thank you Tiina for your support, patience, motivation and knowledge during all these years! Thank you for pushing me and believing in me even if I did not believe myself anymore.

I am also grateful to the members of our small research group. Special thanks to Karin for her positive attitude and for thinking with me when I was totally stuck with my experiments. Thank you, Tiina Michelson, for motivating me!

My sincere and special thanks to my past and present colleagues, labmates and students in the chair of genetics. I would also like to thank all the coauthors of the publications presented in this thesis.

I am also thankful to Tiina Tamm for proofreading my thesis. Her useful suggestions and improvements adjusted the quality of the thesis.

Last but not least, I would like to thank my family. Thank you Merilin and Mariette for being the best daughters in the world. Those deep discussions with you have kept me motivated through all these years. My special thanks goes to my lovely parents for understanding and believing in me and supporting me through the years of my studies in the university.

PUBLICATIONS

CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Katrin Viigand
Date of birth:	01.10.1981
Citizenship:	Estonian
Address:	Chair of Genetics, Institute of Molecular and Cell Biology,
	University of Tartu
	Riia 23, 51010, Tartu, Estonia
E-mail:	katrin.viigand@ut.ee

Education:

Since 2006	University of Tartu, PhD student, microbiology
2004–2006	University of Tartu, MSc, microbiology
2000-2004	University of Tartu, BSc, microbiology

Language skills: Estonian (native), English

Honours & awards:

2004, Estonian Academy of Sciences II award for research "*Hansenula polymorpha* maltase gene promoter: regulation and evaluation of strenght"

Participation in research grants:

ETF5676, ETF7528, ETF9072 and PUT1050.

List of publications:

- Viigand, K. *, Põšnograjeva, K. *, Visnapuu, T. and Alamäe, T. 2018. Genome Mining of Non-Conventional Yeasts: Search and Analysis of *MAL* Clusters and Proteins. *Genes*, 9: 354.
- Mardo, K., Visnapuu, T., Vija, H., Aasamets, A., **Viigand, K**. and Alamäe, T. 2017. A Highly Active Endo-Levanase BT1760 of a Dominant Mammalian Gut Commensal *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* Cleaves Not Only Various Bacterial Levans, but Also Levan of Timothy Grass. *PloS One*, **12**: e0169989.
- Viigand, K.*, Visnapuu, T.*, Mardo, K., Aasamets, A. and Alamäe, T. 2016. Maltase protein of *Ogataea (Hansenula) polymorpha* is a counterpart to the resurrected ancestor protein ancMALS of yeast maltases and isomaltases. *Yeast*, 33: 415–432.
- Mardo, K., Visnapuu, T., Gromkova, M., Aasamets, A., Viigand, K., Vija, H. and Alamäe, T. 2014. High-throughput assay of levansucrase variants in search of feasible catalysts for the synthesis of fructooligosaccharides and levan. *Mol. Basel Switz.*, **19**: 8434–8455.
- Suppi, S., Michelson, T., Viigand, K. and Alamäe, T. 2013. Repression vs. activation of MOX, FMD, MPP1 and MAL1 promoters by sugars in Hansenula polymorpha: the outcome depends on cell's ability to phosphorylate sugar. FEMS Yeast Res., 13: 219–232.

- **Viigand, K.** and Alamäe, T. 2007. Further study of the *Hansenula polymorpha MAL* locus: characterization of the α -glucoside permease encoded by the *HpMAL2* gene. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 7: 1134–1144.
- Viigand, K., Tammus, K. and Alamäe, T. 2005. Clustering of *MAL* genes in *Hansenula polymorpha*: cloning of the maltose permease gene and expression from the divergent intergenic region between the maltose permease and maltase genes. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 5: 1019–1028.
- Alamäe, T., Pärn, P., Viigand, K. and Karp, H. 2003. Regulation of the Hansenula polymorpha maltase gene promoter in *H. polymorpha* and Saccharomyces cerevisiae. FEMS Yeast Res., 4: 165–173. *Equal contribution

Membership in professional organizations:

Member of the Estonian Society of Microbiology and Estonian Society of Human Genetics.

ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Katrin Viigand
Sünniaeg:	01.10.1981
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Aadress:	Tartu Ülikool, molekulaar- ja rakubioloogia instituut, geneetika
	õppetool
	Riia 23, 51010, Tartu, Eesti
E-post:	katrin.viigand@ut.ee
Handdaar	

Haridus:

Alates 2006	Tartu Ülikool, doktoriõpe (mikrobioloogia eriala)
2004–2006	Tartu Ülikool, magistriõpe (mikrobioloogia eriala)
2000-2004	Tartu Ülikool, bakalaureuseõpe (mikrobioloogia eriala)

Keelteoskus: eesti keel (emakeel), inglise keel

Teaduspreemia: 2004, Eesti Teaduste Akadeemia üliõpilastööde II auhind uurimistöö "*Hansenula polymorpha* maltaasi geeni promootor: regulatsiooni uurimine ja tugevuse hindamine" eest.

Osalemine teadusprojektides:

ETF5676, ETF7528, ETF9072 and PUT1050.

Publikatsioonid:

- Viigand, K. *, Põšnograjeva, K. *, Visnapuu, T. and Alamäe, T. 2018. Genome Mining of Non-Conventional Yeasts: Search and Analysis of *MAL* Clusters and Proteins. *Genes*, 9: 354.
- Mardo, K., Visnapuu, T., Vija, H., Aasamets, A., Viigand, K. and Alamäe, T. 2017. A Highly Active Endo-Levanase BT1760 of a Dominant Mammalian Gut Commensal *Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron* Cleaves Not Only Various Bacterial Levans, but Also Levan of Timothy Grass. *PloS One*, 12: e0169989.
- Viigand, K.*, Visnapuu, T.*, Mardo, K., Aasamets, A. and Alamäe, T. 2016. Maltase protein of *Ogataea* (*Hansenula*) *polymorpha* is a counterpart to the resurrected ancestor protein ancMALS of yeast maltases and isomaltases. *Yeast*, **33**: 415–432.
- Mardo, K., Visnapuu, T., Gromkova, M., Aasamets, A., Viigand, K., Vija, H. and Alamäe, T. 2014. High-throughput assay of levansucrase variants in search of feasible catalysts for the synthesis of fructooligosaccharides and levan. *Mol. Basel Switz.*, **19**: 8434–8455.
- Suppi, S., Michelson, T., Viigand, K. and Alamäe, T. 2013. Repression vs. activation of MOX, FMD, MPP1 and MAL1 promoters by sugars in Hansenula polymorpha: the outcome depends on cell's ability to phosphorylate sugar. FEMS Yeast Res., 13: 219–232.

- **Viigand, K.** and Alamäe, T. 2007. Further study of the *Hansenula polymorpha MAL* locus: characterization of the α -glucoside permease encoded by the *HpMAL2* gene. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, **7**: 1134–1144.
- Viigand, K., Tammus, K. and Alamäe, T. 2005. Clustering of *MAL* genes in *Hansenula polymorpha*: cloning of the maltose permease gene and expression from the divergent intergenic region between the maltose permease and maltase genes. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 5: 1019–1028.
- Alamäe, T., Pärn, P., Viigand, K. and Karp, H. 2003. Regulation of the *Hansenula polymorpha* maltase gene promoter in *H. polymorpha* and *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. *FEMS Yeast Res.*, 4: 165–173.
 *Võrdne panus

Erialaline liikmelisus:

Eesti Mikrobioloogide Ühenduse ja Eesti Inimesegeneetika Ühingu liige.

DISSERTATIONES BIOLOGICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. Toivo Maimets. Studies of human oncoprotein p53. Tartu, 1991, 96 p.
- 2. Enn K. Seppet. Thyroid state control over energy metabolism, ion transport and contractile functions in rat heart. Tartu, 1991, 135 p.
- 3. Kristjan Zobel. Epifüütsete makrosamblike väärtus õhu saastuse indikaatoritena Hamar-Dobani boreaalsetes mägimetsades. Tartu, 1992, 131 lk.
- 4. Andres Mäe. Conjugal mobilization of catabolic plasmids by transposable elements in helper plasmids. Tartu, 1992, 91 p.
- 5. Maia Kivisaar. Studies on phenol degradation genes of *Pseudomonas* sp. strain EST 1001. Tartu, 1992, 61 p.
- 6. Allan Nurk. Nucleotide sequences of phenol degradative genes from *Pseudomonas sp.* strain EST 1001 and their transcriptional activation in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 1992, 72 p.
- 7. Ülo Tamm. The genus *Populus* L. in Estonia: variation of the species biology and introduction. Tartu, 1993, 91 p.
- 8. Jaanus Remme. Studies on the peptidyltransferase centre of the *E.coli* ribosome. Tartu, 1993, 68 p.
- 9. Ülo Langel. Galanin and galanin antagonists. Tartu, 1993, 97 p.
- 10. Arvo Käärd. The development of an automatic online dynamic fluorescense-based pH-dependent fiber optic penicillin flowthrought biosensor for the control of the benzylpenicillin hydrolysis. Tartu, 1993, 117 p.
- 11. Lilian Järvekülg. Antigenic analysis and development of sensitive immunoassay for potato viruses. Tartu, 1993, 147 p.
- 12. **Jaak Palumets**. Analysis of phytomass partition in Norway spruce. Tartu, 1993, 47 p.
- 13. Arne Sellin. Variation in hydraulic architecture of *Picea abies* (L.) Karst. trees grown under different environmental conditions. Tartu, 1994, 119 p.
- 13. **Mati Reeben**. Regulation of light neurofilament gene expression. Tartu, 1994, 108 p.
- 14. Urmas Tartes. Respiration rhytms in insects. Tartu, 1995, 109 p.
- 15. **Ülo Puurand**. The complete nucleotide sequence and infections *in vitro* transcripts from cloned cDNA of a potato A potyvirus. Tartu, 1995, 96 p.
- 16. **Peeter Hõrak**. Pathways of selection in avian reproduction: a functional framework and its application in the population study of the great tit (*Parus major*). Tartu, 1995, 118 p.
- 17. Erkki Truve. Studies on specific and broad spectrum virus resistance in transgenic plants. Tartu, 1996, 158 p.
- 18. **Illar Pata**. Cloning and characterization of human and mouse ribosomal protein S6-encoding genes. Tartu, 1996, 60 p.
- 19. Ülo Niinemets. Importance of structural features of leaves and canopy in determining species shade-tolerance in temperature deciduous woody taxa. Tartu, 1996, 150 p.

- 20. Ants Kurg. Bovine leukemia virus: molecular studies on the packaging region and DNA diagnostics in cattle. Tartu, 1996, 104 p.
- 21. **Ene Ustav**. E2 as the modulator of the BPV1 DNA replication. Tartu, 1996, 100 p.
- 22. Aksel Soosaar. Role of helix-loop-helix and nuclear hormone receptor transcription factors in neurogenesis. Tartu, 1996, 109 p.
- 23. **Maido Remm**. Human papillomavirus type 18: replication, transformation and gene expression. Tartu, 1997, 117 p.
- 24. **Tiiu Kull**. Population dynamics in *Cypripedium calceolus* L. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 25. Kalle Olli. Evolutionary life-strategies of autotrophic planktonic microorganisms in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 1997, 180 p.
- 26. **Meelis Pärtel**. Species diversity and community dynamics in calcareous grassland communities in Western Estonia. Tartu, 1997, 124 p.
- 27. **Malle Leht**. The Genus *Potentilla* L. in Estonia, Latvia and Lithuania: distribution, morphology and taxonomy. Tartu, 1997, 186 p.
- 28. **Tanel Tenson**. Ribosomes, peptides and antibiotic resistance. Tartu, 1997, 80 p.
- 29. Arvo Tuvikene. Assessment of inland water pollution using biomarker responses in fish *in vivo* and *in vitro*. Tartu, 1997, 160 p.
- 30. Urmas Saarma. Tuning ribosomal elongation cycle by mutagenesis of 23S rRNA. Tartu, 1997, 134 p.
- 31. **Henn Ojaveer**. Composition and dynamics of fish stocks in the gulf of Riga ecosystem. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 32. Lembi Lõugas. Post-glacial development of vertebrate fauna in Estonian water bodies. Tartu, 1997, 138 p.
- 33. **Margus Pooga**. Cell penetrating peptide, transportan, and its predecessors, galanin-based chimeric peptides. Tartu, 1998, 110 p.
- 34. Andres Saag. Evolutionary relationships in some cetrarioid genera (Lichenized Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 196 p.
- 35. Aivar Liiv. Ribosomal large subunit assembly in vivo. Tartu, 1998, 158 p.
- 36. **Tatjana Oja**. Isoenzyme diversity and phylogenetic affinities among the eurasian annual bromes (*Bromus* L., Poaceae). Tartu, 1998, 92 p.
- 37. **Mari Moora**. The influence of arbuscular mycorrhizal (AM) symbiosis on the competition and coexistence of calcareous grassland plant species. Tartu, 1998, 78 p.
- 38. Olavi Kurina. Fungus gnats in Estonia (*Diptera: Bolitophilidae, Keroplatidae, Macroceridae, Ditomyiidae, Diadocidiidae, Mycetophilidae*). Tartu, 1998, 200 p.
- 39. Andrus Tasa. Biological leaching of shales: black shale and oil shale. Tartu, 1998, 98 p.
- 40. Arnold Kristjuhan. Studies on transcriptional activator properties of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 1998, 86 p.
- 41. **Sulev Ingerpuu**. Characterization of some human myeloid cell surface and nuclear differentiation antigens. Tartu, 1998, 163 p.

- 42. Veljo Kisand. Responses of planktonic bacteria to the abiotic and biotic factors in the shallow lake Võrtsjärv. Tartu, 1998, 118 p.
- 43. Kadri Põldmaa. Studies in the systematics of hypomyces and allied genera (Hypocreales, Ascomycota). Tartu, 1998, 178 p.
- 44. Markus Vetemaa. Reproduction parameters of fish as indicators in environmental monitoring. Tartu, 1998, 117 p.
- 45. **Heli Talvik**. Prepatent periods and species composition of different *Oeso-phagostomum* spp. populations in Estonia and Denmark. Tartu, 1998, 104 p.
- 46. Katrin Heinsoo. Cuticular and stomatal antechamber conductance to water vapour diffusion in *Picea abies* (L.) karst. Tartu, 1999, 133 p.
- 47. **Tarmo Annilo**. Studies on mammalian ribosomal protein S7. Tartu, 1998, 77 p.
- 48. **Indrek Ots**. Health state indicies of reproducing great tits (*Parus major*): sources of variation and connections with life-history traits. Tartu, 1999, 117 p.
- 49. Juan Jose Cantero. Plant community diversity and habitat relationships in central Argentina grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 161 p.
- 50. **Rein Kalamees**. Seed bank, seed rain and community regeneration in Estonian calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 1999, 107 p.
- 51. **Sulev Kõks**. Cholecystokinin (CCK) induced anxiety in rats: influence of environmental stimuli and involvement of endopioid mechanisms and serotonin. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 52. Ebe Sild. Impact of increasing concentrations of O_3 and CO_2 on wheat, clover and pasture. Tartu, 1999, 123 p.
- 53. Ljudmilla Timofejeva. Electron microscopical analysis of the synaptonemal complex formation in cereals. Tartu, 1999, 99 p.
- 54. Andres Valkna. Interactions of galanin receptor with ligands and G-proteins: studies with synthetic peptides. Tartu, 1999, 103 p.
- 55. **Taavi Virro**. Life cycles of planktonic rotifers in lake Peipsi. Tartu, 1999, 101 p.
- 56. Ana Rebane. Mammalian ribosomal protein S3a genes and intronencoded small nucleolar RNAs U73 and U82. Tartu, 1999, 85 p.
- 57. **Tiina Tamm**. Cocksfoot mottle virus: the genome organisation and translational strategies. Tartu, 2000, 101 p.
- 58. **Reet Kurg**. Structure-function relationship of the bovine papilloma virus E2 protein. Tartu, 2000, 89 p.
- 59. **Toomas Kivisild**. The origins of Southern and Western Eurasian populations: an mtDNA study. Tartu, 2000, 121 p.
- 60. Niilo Kaldalu. Studies of the TOL plasmid transcription factor XylS. Tartu, 2000, 88 p.
- 61. **Dina Lepik**. Modulation of viral DNA replication by tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.

- 62. **Kai Vellak**. Influence of different factors on the diversity of the bryophyte vegetation in forest and wooded meadow communities. Tartu, 2000, 122 p.
- 63. **Jonne Kotta**. Impact of eutrophication and biological invasionas on the structure and functions of benthic macrofauna. Tartu, 2000, 160 p.
- 64. Georg Martin. Phytobenthic communities of the Gulf of Riga and the inner sea the West-Estonian archipelago. Tartu, 2000, 139 p.
- 65. Silvia Sepp. Morphological and genetical variation of *Alchemilla L*. in Estonia. Tartu, 2000. 124 p.
- 66. **Jaan Liira**. On the determinants of structure and diversity in herbaceous plant communities. Tartu, 2000, 96 p.
- 67. **Priit Zingel**. The role of planktonic ciliates in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2001, 111 p.
- 68. **Tiit Teder**. Direct and indirect effects in Host-parasitoid interactions: ecological and evolutionary consequences. Tartu, 2001, 122 p.
- 69. **Hannes Kollist**. Leaf apoplastic ascorbate as ozone scavenger and its transport across the plasma membrane. Tartu, 2001, 80 p.
- 70. **Reet Marits**. Role of two-component regulator system PehR-PehS and extracellular protease PrtW in virulence of *Erwinia Carotovora* subsp. *Carotovora*. Tartu, 2001, 112 p.
- 71. Vallo Tilgar. Effect of calcium supplementation on reproductive performance of the pied flycatcher *Ficedula hypoleuca* and the great tit *Parus major*, breeding in Nothern temperate forests. Tartu, 2002, 126 p.
- 72. **Rita Hõrak**. Regulation of transposition of transposon Tn4652 in *Pseudo-monas putida*. Tartu, 2002, 108 p.
- 73. Liina Eek-Piirsoo. The effect of fertilization, mowing and additional illumination on the structure of a species-rich grassland community. Tartu, 2002, 74 p.
- 74. **Krõõt Aasamaa**. Shoot hydraulic conductance and stomatal conductance of six temperate deciduous tree species. Tartu, 2002, 110 p.
- 75. **Nele Ingerpuu**. Bryophyte diversity and vascular plants. Tartu, 2002, 112 p.
- 76. **Neeme Tõnisson**. Mutation detection by primer extension on oligonucleotide microarrays. Tartu, 2002, 124 p.
- 77. **Margus Pensa**. Variation in needle retention of Scots pine in relation to leaf morphology, nitrogen conservation and tree age. Tartu, 2003, 110 p.
- 78. **Asko Lõhmus**. Habitat preferences and quality for birds of prey: from principles to applications. Tartu, 2003, 168 p.
- 79. Viljar Jaks. p53 a switch in cellular circuit. Tartu, 2003, 160 p.
- 80. **Jaana Männik**. Characterization and genetic studies of four ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters. Tartu, 2003, 140 p.
- 81. **Marek Sammul**. Competition and coexistence of clonal plants in relation to productivity. Tartu, 2003, 159 p
- 82. **Ivar Ilves**. Virus-cell interactions in the replication cycle of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 89 p.

- 83. Andres Männik. Design and characterization of a novel vector system based on the stable replicator of bovine papillomavirus type 1. Tartu, 2003, 109 p.
- 84. **Ivika Ostonen**. Fine root structure, dynamics and proportion in net primary production of Norway spruce forest ecosystem in relation to site conditions. Tartu, 2003, 158 p.
- 85. **Gudrun Veldre**. Somatic status of 12–15-year-old Tartu schoolchildren. Tartu, 2003, 199 p.
- 86. Ülo Väli. The greater spotted eagle *Aquila clanga* and the lesser spotted eagle *A. pomarina*: taxonomy, phylogeography and ecology. Tartu, 2004, 159 p.
- 87. **Aare Abroi**. The determinants for the native activities of the bovine papillomavirus type 1 E2 protein are separable. Tartu, 2004, 135 p.
- 88. Tiina Kahre. Cystic fibrosis in Estonia. Tartu, 2004, 116 p.
- 89. Helen Orav-Kotta. Habitat choice and feeding activity of benthic suspension feeders and mesograzers in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2004, 117 p.
- 90. **Maarja Öpik**. Diversity of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi in the roots of perennial plants and their effect on plant performance. Tartu, 2004, 175 p.
- 91. Kadri Tali. Species structure of *Neotinea ustulata*. Tartu, 2004, 109 p.
- 92. Kristiina Tambets. Towards the understanding of post-glacial spread of human mitochondrial DNA haplogroups in Europe and beyond: a phylogeographic approach. Tartu, 2004, 163 p.
- 93. Arvi Jõers. Regulation of p53-dependent transcription. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 94. Lilian Kadaja. Studies on modulation of the activity of tumor suppressor protein p53. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 95. Jaak Truu. Oil shale industry wastewater: impact on river microbial community and possibilities for bioremediation. Tartu, 2004, 128 p.
- 96. **Maire Peters**. Natural horizontal transfer of the *pheBA* operon. Tartu, 2004, 105 p.
- 97. Ülo Maiväli. Studies on the structure-function relationship of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2004, 130 p.
- 98. Merit Otsus. Plant community regeneration and species diversity in dry calcareous grasslands. Tartu, 2004, 103 p.
- 99. Mikk Heidemaa. Systematic studies on sawflies of the genera *Dolerus, Empria,* and *Caliroa* (Hymenoptera: Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2004, 167 p.
- 100. **Ilmar Tõnno**. The impact of nitrogen and phosphorus concentration and N/P ratio on cyanobacterial dominance and N_2 fixation in some Estonian lakes. Tartu, 2004, 111 p.
- 101. Lauri Saks. Immune function, parasites, and carotenoid-based ornaments in greenfinches. Tartu, 2004, 144 p.
- 102. **Siiri Rootsi**. Human Y-chromosomal variation in European populations. Tartu, 2004, 142 p.
- 103. **Eve Vedler**. Structure of the 2,4-dichloro-phenoxyacetic acid-degradative plasmid pEST4011. Tartu, 2005. 106 p.

- 104. Andres Tover. Regulation of transcription of the phenol degradation *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 126 p.
- 105. Helen Udras. Hexose kinases and glucose transport in the yeast *Hansenula polymorpha*. Tartu, 2005, 100 p.
- 106. Ave Suija. Lichens and lichenicolous fungi in Estonia: diversity, distribution patterns, taxonomy. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 107. **Piret Lõhmus**. Forest lichens and their substrata in Estonia. Tartu, 2005, 162 p.
- 108. **Inga Lips**. Abiotic factors controlling the cyanobacterial bloom occurrence in the Gulf of Finland. Tartu, 2005, 156 p.
- 109. Kaasik, Krista. Circadian clock genes in mammalian clockwork, metabolism and behaviour. Tartu, 2005, 121 p.
- 110. Juhan Javoiš. The effects of experience on host acceptance in ovipositing moths. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 111. **Tiina Sedman**. Characterization of the yeast *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondrial DNA helicase Hmi1. Tartu, 2005, 103 p.
- 112. **Ruth Aguraiuja**. Hawaiian endemic fern lineage *Diellia* (Aspleniaceae): distribution, population structure and ecology. Tartu, 2005, 112 p.
- 113. **Riho Teras**. Regulation of transcription from the fusion promoters generated by transposition of Tn4652 into the upstream region of *pheBA* operon in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2005, 106 p.
- 114. **Mait Metspalu**. Through the course of prehistory in india: tracing the mtDNA trail. Tartu, 2005, 138 p.
- 115. Elin Lõhmussaar. The comparative patterns of linkage disequilibrium in European populations and its implication for genetic association studies. Tartu, 2006, 124 p.
- 116. **Priit Kupper**. Hydraulic and environmental limitations to leaf water relations in trees with respect to canopy position. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 117. **Heili Ilves**. Stress-induced transposition of Tn4652 in *Pseudomonas Putida*. Tartu, 2006, 120 p.
- 118. Silja Kuusk. Biochemical properties of Hmi1p, a DNA helicase from *Saccharomyces cerevisiae* mitochondria. Tartu, 2006, 126 p.
- 119. Kersti Püssa. Forest edges on medium resolution landsat thematic mapper satellite images. Tartu, 2006, 90 p.
- 120. Lea Tummeleht. Physiological condition and immune function in great tits (*Parus major* 1.): Sources of variation and trade-offs in relation to growth. Tartu, 2006, 94 p.
- 121. **Toomas Esperk**. Larval instar as a key element of insect growth schedules. Tartu, 2006, 186 p.
- 122. Harri Valdmann. Lynx (*Lynx lynx*) and wolf (*Canis lupus*) in the Baltic region: Diets, helminth parasites and genetic variation. Tartu, 2006. 102 p.
- 123. **Priit Jõers**. Studies of the mitochondrial helicase Hmi1p in *Candida albicans* and *Saccharomyces cerevisia*. Tartu, 2006. 113 p.
- 124. Kersti Lilleväli. Gata3 and Gata2 in inner ear development. Tartu, 2007, 123 p.

- 125. Kai Rünk. Comparative ecology of three fern species: Dryopteris carthusiana (Vill.) H.P. Fuchs, D. expansa (C. Presl) Fraser-Jenkins & Jermy and D. dilatata (Hoffm.) A. Gray (Dryopteridaceae). Tartu, 2007, 143 p.
- 126. Aveliina Helm. Formation and persistence of dry grassland diversity: role of human history and landscape structure. Tartu, 2007, 89 p.
- 127. Leho Tedersoo. Ectomycorrhizal fungi: diversity and community structure in Estonia, Seychelles and Australia. Tartu, 2007, 233 p.
- 128. **Marko Mägi**. The habitat-related variation of reproductive performance of great tits in a deciduous-coniferous forest mosaic: looking for causes and consequences. Tartu, 2007, 135 p.
- 129. Valeria Lulla. Replication strategies and applications of Semliki Forest virus. Tartu, 2007, 109 p.
- 130. Ülle Reier. Estonian threatened vascular plant species: causes of rarity and conservation. Tartu, 2007, 79 p.
- 131. **Inga Jüriado**. Diversity of lichen species in Estonia: influence of regional and local factors. Tartu, 2007, 171 p.
- 132. **Tatjana Krama**. Mobbing behaviour in birds: costs and reciprocity based cooperation. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 133. **Signe Saumaa**. The role of DNA mismatch repair and oxidative DNA damage defense systems in avoidance of stationary phase mutations in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 134. **Reedik Mägi**. The linkage disequilibrium and the selection of genetic markers for association studies in european populations. Tartu, 2007, 96 p.
- 135. **Priit Kilgas**. Blood parameters as indicators of physiological condition and skeletal development in great tits (*Parus major*): natural variation and application in the reproductive ecology of birds. Tartu, 2007, 129 p.
- 136. Anu Albert. The role of water salinity in structuring eastern Baltic coastal fish communities. Tartu, 2007, 95 p.
- 137. **Kärt Padari**. Protein transduction mechanisms of transportans. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 138. Siiri-Lii Sandre. Selective forces on larval colouration in a moth. Tartu, 2008, 125 p.
- 139. Ülle Jõgar. Conservation and restoration of semi-natural floodplain meadows and their rare plant species. Tartu, 2008, 99 p.
- 140. Lauri Laanisto. Macroecological approach in vegetation science: generality of ecological relationships at the global scale. Tartu, 2008, 133 p.
- 141. **Reidar Andreson**. Methods and software for predicting PCR failure rate in large genomes. Tartu, 2008, 105 p.
- 142. Birgot Paavel. Bio-optical properties of turbid lakes. Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 143. **Kaire Torn**. Distribution and ecology of charophytes in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 144. **Vladimir Vimberg**. Peptide mediated macrolide resistance. Tartu, 2008, 190 p.
- 145. **Daima Örd**. Studies on the stress-inducible pseudokinase TRB3, a novel inhibitor of transcription factor ATF4. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.

- 146. Lauri Saag. Taxonomic and ecologic problems in the genus *Lepraria* (*Stereocaulaceae*, lichenised *Ascomycota*). Tartu, 2008, 175 p.
- 147. Ulvi Karu. Antioxidant protection, carotenoids and coccidians in greenfinches – assessment of the costs of immune activation and mechanisms of parasite resistance in a passerine with carotenoid-based ornaments. Tartu, 2008, 124 p.
- 148. Jaanus Remm. Tree-cavities in forests: density, characteristics and occupancy by animals. Tartu, 2008, 128 p.
- 149. **Epp Moks**. Tapeworm parasites *Echinococcus multilocularis* and *E. granulosus* in Estonia: phylogenetic relationships and occurrence in wild carnivores and ungulates. Tartu, 2008, 82 p.
- 150. Eve Eensalu. Acclimation of stomatal structure and function in tree canopy: effect of light and CO₂ concentration. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 151. **Janne Pullat**. Design, functionlization and application of an *in situ* synthesized oligonucleotide microarray. Tartu, 2008, 108 p.
- 152. Marta Putrinš. Responses of *Pseudomonas putida* to phenol-induced metabolic and stress signals. Tartu, 2008, 142 p.
- 153. Marina Semtšenko. Plant root behaviour: responses to neighbours and physical obstructions. Tartu, 2008, 106 p.
- 154. Marge Starast. Influence of cultivation techniques on productivity and fruit quality of some *Vaccinium* and *Rubus* taxa. Tartu, 2008, 154 p.
- 155. Age Tats. Sequence motifs influencing the efficiency of translation. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 156. **Radi Tegova**. The role of specialized DNA polymerases in mutagenesis in *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2009, 124 p.
- 157. **Tsipe Aavik**. Plant species richness, composition and functional trait pattern in agricultural landscapes the role of land use intensity and landscape structure. Tartu, 2009, 112 p.
- 158. **Kaja Kiiver**. Semliki forest virus based vectors and cell lines for studying the replication and interactions of alphaviruses and hepaciviruses. Tartu, 2009, 104 p.
- 159. **Meelis Kadaja**. Papillomavirus Replication Machinery Induces Genomic Instability in its Host Cell. Tartu, 2009, 126 p.
- 160. **Pille Hallast**. Human and chimpanzee Luteinizing hormone/Chorionic Gonadotropin beta (*LHB/CGB*) gene clusters: diversity and divergence of young duplicated genes. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 161. Ain Vellak. Spatial and temporal aspects of plant species conservation. Tartu, 2009, 86 p.
- 162. **Triinu Remmel**. Body size evolution in insects with different colouration strategies: the role of predation risk. Tartu, 2009, 168 p.
- 163. Jaana Salujõe. Zooplankton as the indicator of ecological quality and fish predation in lake ecosystems. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 164. Ele Vahtmäe. Mapping benthic habitat with remote sensing in optically complex coastal environments. Tartu, 2009, 109 p.

- 165. Liisa Metsamaa. Model-based assessment to improve the use of remote sensing in recognition and quantitative mapping of cyanobacteria. Tartu, 2009, 114 p.
- 166. **Pille Säälik**. The role of endocytosis in the protein transduction by cellpenetrating peptides. Tartu, 2009, 155 p.
- 167. Lauri Peil. Ribosome assembly factors in *Escherichia coli*. Tartu, 2009, 147 p.
- Lea Hallik. Generality and specificity in light harvesting, carbon gain capacity and shade tolerance among plant functional groups. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- 169. Mariliis Tark. Mutagenic potential of DNA damage repair and tolerance mechanisms under starvation stress. Tartu, 2009, 191 p.
- 170. **Riinu Rannap**. Impacts of habitat loss and restoration on amphibian populations. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 171. **Maarja Adojaan**. Molecular variation of HIV-1 and the use of this knowledge in vaccine development. Tartu, 2009, 95 p.
- 172. **Signe Altmäe**. Genomics and transcriptomics of human induced ovarian folliculogenesis. Tartu, 2010, 179 p.
- 173. **Triin Suvi**. Mycorrhizal fungi of native and introduced trees in the Seychelles Islands. Tartu, 2010, 107 p.
- 174. **Velda Lauringson**. Role of suspension feeding in a brackish-water coastal sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 175. **Eero Talts**. Photosynthetic cyclic electron transport measurement and variably proton-coupled mechanism. Tartu, 2010, 121 p.
- 176. **Mari Nelis**. Genetic structure of the Estonian population and genetic distance from other populations of European descent. Tartu, 2010, 97 p.
- 177. **Kaarel Krjutškov**. Arrayed Primer Extension-2 as a multiplex PCR-based method for nucleic acid variation analysis: method and applications. Tartu, 2010, 129 p.
- 178. **Egle Köster**. Morphological and genetical variation within species complexes: *Anthyllis vulneraria* s. l. and *Alchemilla vulgaris* (coll.). Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 179. Erki Õunap. Systematic studies on the subfamily Sterrhinae (Lepidoptera: Geometridae). Tartu, 2010, 111 p.
- 180. Merike Jõesaar. Diversity of key catabolic genes at degradation of phenol and *p*-cresol in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2010, 125 p.
- 181. **Kristjan Herkül**. Effects of physical disturbance and habitat-modifying species on sediment properties and benthic communities in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 182. Arto Pulk. Studies on bacterial ribosomes by chemical modification approaches. Tartu, 2010, 161 p.
- 183. **Maria Põllupüü**. Ecological relations of cladocerans in a brackish-water ecosystem. Tartu, 2010, 126 p.
- 184. **Toomas Silla**. Study of the segregation mechanism of the Bovine Papillomavirus Type 1. Tartu, 2010, 188 p.

- 185. **Gyaneshwer Chaubey**. The demographic history of India: A perspective based on genetic evidence. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 186. **Katrin Kepp**. Genes involved in cardiovascular traits: detection of genetic variation in Estonian and Czech populations. Tartu, 2010, 164 p.
- 187. Virve Sõber. The role of biotic interactions in plant reproductive performance. Tartu, 2010, 92 p.
- 188. **Kersti Kangro**. The response of phytoplankton community to the changes in nutrient loading. Tartu, 2010, 144 p.
- 189. Joachim M. Gerhold. Replication and Recombination of mitochondrial DNA in Yeast. Tartu, 2010, 120 p.
- 190. **Helen Tammert**. Ecological role of physiological and phylogenetic diversity in aquatic bacterial communities. Tartu, 2010, 140 p.
- 191. **Elle Rajandu**. Factors determining plant and lichen species diversity and composition in Estonian *Calamagrostis* and *Hepatica* site type forests. Tartu, 2010, 123 p.
- 192. **Paula Ann Kivistik**. ColR-ColS signalling system and transposition of Tn4652 in the adaptation of *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2010, 118 p.
- 193. **Siim Sõber**. Blood pressure genetics: from candidate genes to genomewide association studies. Tartu, 2011, 120 p.
- 194. **Kalle Kipper**. Studies on the role of helix 69 of 23S rRNA in the factordependent stages of translation initiation, elongation, and termination. Tartu, 2011, 178 p.
- 195. **Triinu Siibak**. Effect of antibiotics on ribosome assembly is indirect. Tartu, 2011, 134 p.
- 196. **Tambet Tõnissoo**. Identification and molecular analysis of the role of guanine nucleotide exchange factor RIC-8 in mouse development and neural function. Tartu, 2011, 110 p.
- 197. **Helin Räägel**. Multiple faces of cell-penetrating peptides their intracellular trafficking, stability and endosomal escape during protein transduction. Tartu, 2011, 161 p.
- 198. Andres Jaanus. Phytoplankton in Estonian coastal waters variability, trends and response to environmental pressures. Tartu, 2011, 157 p.
- 199. **Tiit Nikopensius**. Genetic predisposition to nonsyndromic orofacial clefts. Tartu, 2011, 152 p.
- 200. **Signe Värv**. Studies on the mechanisms of RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 201. Kristjan Välk. Gene expression profiling and genome-wide association studies of non-small cell lung cancer. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 202. Arno Põllumäe. Spatio-temporal patterns of native and invasive zooplankton species under changing climate and eutrophication conditions. Tartu, 2011, 153 p.
- 203. Egle Tammeleht. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) population structure, demographic processes and variations in diet in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2011, 143 p.

- 205. **Teele Jairus**. Species composition and host preference among ectomycorrhizal fungi in Australian and African ecosystems. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 206. Kessy Abarenkov. PlutoF cloud database and computing services supporting biological research. Tartu, 2011, 125 p.
- 207. Marina Grigorova. Fine-scale genetic variation of follicle-stimulating hormone beta-subunit coding gene (*FSHB*) and its association with reproductive health. Tartu, 2011, 184 p.
- 208. Anu Tiitsaar. The effects of predation risk and habitat history on butterfly communities. Tartu, 2011, 97 p.
- 209. Elin Sild. Oxidative defences in immunoecological context: validation and application of assays for nitric oxide production and oxidative burst in a wild passerine. Tartu, 2011, 105 p.
- 210. Irja Saar. The taxonomy and phylogeny of the genera *Cystoderma* and *Cystodermella* (Agaricales, Fungi). Tartu, 2012, 167 p.
- 211. **Pauli Saag**. Natural variation in plumage bacterial assemblages in two wild breeding passerines. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 212. Aleksei Lulla. Alphaviral nonstructural protease and its polyprotein substrate: arrangements for the perfect marriage. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 213. **Mari Järve**. Different genetic perspectives on human history in Europe and the Caucasus: the stories told by uniparental and autosomal markers. Tartu, 2012, 119 p.
- 214. Ott Scheler. The application of tmRNA as a marker molecule in bacterial diagnostics using microarray and biosensor technology. Tartu, 2012, 93 p.
- 215. Anna Balikova. Studies on the functions of tumor-associated mucin-like leukosialin (CD43) in human cancer cells. Tartu, 2012, 129 p.
- 216. **Triinu Kõressaar**. Improvement of PCR primer design for detection of prokaryotic species. Tartu, 2012, 83 p.
- 217. Tuul Sepp. Hematological health state indices of greenfinches: sources of individual variation and responses to immune system manipulation. Tartu, 2012, 117 p.
- 218. Rya Ero. Modifier view of the bacterial ribosome. Tartu, 2012, 146 p.
- 219. Mohammad Bahram. Biogeography of ectomycorrhizal fungi across different spatial scales. Tartu, 2012, 165 p.
- 220. Annely Lorents. Overcoming the plasma membrane barrier: uptake of amphipathic cell-penetrating peptides induces influx of calcium ions and downstream responses. Tartu, 2012, 113 p.
- 221. **Katrin Männik**. Exploring the genomics of cognitive impairment: wholegenome SNP genotyping experience in Estonian patients and general population. Tartu, 2012, 171 p.
- 222. Marko Prous. Taxonomy and phylogeny of the sawfly genus *Empria* (Hymenoptera, Tenthredinidae). Tartu, 2012, 192 p.
- 223. **Triinu Visnapuu**. Levansucrases encoded in the genome of *Pseudomonas syringae* pv. tomato DC3000: heterologous expression, biochemical characterization, mutational analysis and spectrum of polymerization products. Tartu, 2012, 160 p.
- 224. Nele Tamberg. Studies on Semliki Forest virus replication and pathogenesis. Tartu, 2012, 109 p.
- 225. **Tõnu Esko**. Novel applications of SNP array data in the analysis of the genetic structure of Europeans and in genetic association studies. Tartu, 2012, 149 p.
- 226. **Timo Arula**. Ecology of early life-history stages of herring *Clupea harengus membras* in the northeastern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 143 p.
- 227. **Inga Hiiesalu**. Belowground plant diversity and coexistence patterns in grassland ecosystems. Tartu, 2012, 130 p.
- 228. **Kadri Koorem**. The influence of abiotic and biotic factors on small-scale plant community patterns and regeneration in boreonemoral forest. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 229. Liis Andresen. Regulation of virulence in plant-pathogenic pectobacteria. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 230. **Kaupo Kohv**. The direct and indirect effects of management on boreal forest structure and field layer vegetation. Tartu, 2012, 124 p.
- 231. Mart Jüssi. Living on an edge: landlocked seals in changing climate. Tartu, 2012, 114 p.
- 232. Riina Klais. Phytoplankton trends in the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2012, 136 p.
- 233. **Rauno Veeroja**. Effects of winter weather, population density and timing of reproduction on life-history traits and population dynamics of moose (*Alces alces*) in Estonia. Tartu, 2012, 92 p.
- 234. **Marju Keis**. Brown bear (*Ursus arctos*) phylogeography in northern Eurasia. Tartu, 2013, 142 p.
- 235. **Sergei Põlme**. Biogeography and ecology of *alnus* associated ectomycorrhizal fungi – from regional to global scale. Tartu, 2013, 90 p.
- 236. Liis Uusküla. Placental gene expression in normal and complicated pregnancy. Tartu, 2013, 173 p.
- 237. Marko Lõoke. Studies on DNA replication initiation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2013, 112 p.
- 238. Anne Aan. Light- and nitrogen-use and biomass allocation along productivity gradients in multilayer plant communities. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- 239. Heidi Tamm. Comprehending phylogenetic diversity case studies in three groups of ascomycetes. Tartu, 2013, 136 p.
- 240. Liina Kangur. High-Pressure Spectroscopy Study of Chromophore-Binding Hydrogen Bonds in Light-Harvesting Complexes of Photosynthetic Bacteria. Tartu, 2013, 150 p.
- 241. Margus Leppik. Substrate specificity of the multisite specific pseudouridine synthase RluD. Tartu, 2013, 111 p.
- 242. Lauris Kaplinski. The application of oligonucleotide hybridization model for PCR and microarray optimization. Tartu, 2013, 103 p.
- 243. **Merli Pärnoja**. Patterns of macrophyte distribution and productivity in coastal ecosystems: effect of abiotic and biotic forcing. Tartu, 2013, 155 p.
- 244. **Tõnu Margus**. Distribution and phylogeny of the bacterial translational GTPases and the Mqsr/YgiT regulatory system. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.

- 245. **Pille Mänd**. Light use capacity and carbon and nitrogen budget of plants: remote assessment and physiological determinants. Tartu, 2013, 128 p.
- 246. **Mario Plaas**. Animal model of Wolfram Syndrome in mice: behavioural, biochemical and psychopharmacological characterization. Tartu, 2013, 144 p.
- 247. Georgi Hudjašov. Maps of mitochondrial DNA, Y-chromosome and tyrosinase variation in Eurasian and Oceanian populations. Tartu, 2013, 115 p.
- 248. Mari Lepik. Plasticity to light in herbaceous plants and its importance for community structure and diversity. Tartu, 2013, 102 p.
- 249. Ede Leppik. Diversity of lichens in semi-natural habitats of Estonia. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 250. Ülle Saks. Arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal diversity patterns in boreonemoral forest ecosystems. Tartu, 2013, 151 p.
- 251. Eneli Oitmaa. Development of arrayed primer extension microarray assays for molecular diagnostic applications. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 252. Jekaterina Jutkina. The horizontal gene pool for aromatics degradation: bacterial catabolic plasmids of the Baltic Sea aquatic system. Tartu, 2013, 121 p.
- 253. **Helen Vellau**. Reaction norms for size and age at maturity in insects: rules and exceptions. Tartu, 2014, 132 p.
- 254. **Randel Kreitsberg**. Using biomarkers in assessment of environmental contamination in fish new perspectives. Tartu, 2014, 107 p.
- 255. Krista Takkis. Changes in plant species richness and population performance in response to habitat loss and fragmentation. Tartu, 2014, 141 p.
- 256. Liina Nagirnaja. Global and fine-scale genetic determinants of recurrent pregnancy loss. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 257. **Triin Triisberg**. Factors influencing the re-vegetation of abandoned extracted peatlands in Estonia. Tartu, 2014, 133 p.
- 258. Villu Soon. A phylogenetic revision of the *Chrysis ignita* species group (Hymenoptera: Chrysididae) with emphasis on the northern European fauna. Tartu, 2014, 211 p.
- 259. Andrei Nikonov. RNA-Dependent RNA Polymerase Activity as a Basis for the Detection of Positive-Strand RNA Viruses by Vertebrate Host Cells. Tartu, 2014, 207 p.
- 260. Eele Õunapuu-Pikas. Spatio-temporal variability of leaf hydraulic conductance in woody plants: ecophysiological consequences. Tartu, 2014, 135 p.
- 261. **Marju Männiste**. Physiological ecology of greenfinches: information content of feathers in relation to immune function and behavior. Tartu, 2014, 121 p.
- 262. **Katre Kets**. Effects of elevated concentrations of CO₂ and O₃ on leaf photosynthetic parameters in *Populus tremuloides*: diurnal, seasonal and interannual patterns. Tartu, 2014, 115 p.

- 263. Külli Lokko. Seasonal and spatial variability of zoopsammon communities in relation to environmental parameters. Tartu, 2014, 129 p.
- 264. Olga Žilina. Chromosomal microarray analysis as diagnostic tool: Estonian experience. Tartu, 2014, 152 p.
- 265. **Kertu Lõhmus**. Colonisation ecology of forest-dwelling vascular plants and the conservation value of rural manor parks. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 266. **Anu Aun**. Mitochondria as integral modulators of cellular signaling. Tartu, 2014, 167 p.
- 267. Chandana Basu Mallick. Genetics of adaptive traits and gender-specific demographic processes in South Asian populations. Tartu, 2014, 160 p.
- 268. **Riin Tamme**. The relationship between small-scale environmental heterogeneity and plant species diversity. Tartu, 2014, 130 p.
- 269. Liina Remm. Impacts of forest drainage on biodiversity and habitat quality: implications for sustainable management and conservation. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 270. **Tiina Talve**. Genetic diversity and taxonomy within the genus *Rhinanthus*. Tartu, 2015, 106 p.
- 271. **Mehis Rohtla**. Otolith sclerochronological studies on migrations, spawning habitat preferences and age of freshwater fishes inhabiting the Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2015, 137 p.
- 272. Alexey Reshchikov. The world fauna of the genus *Lathrolestes* (Hymenoptera, Ichneumonidae). Tartu, 2015, 247 p.
- 273. **Martin Pook**. Studies on artificial and extracellular matrix protein-rich surfaces as regulators of cell growth and differentiation. Tartu, 2015, 142 p.
- 274. **Mai Kukumägi**. Factors affecting soil respiration and its components in silver birch and Norway spruce stands. Tartu, 2015, 155 p.
- 275. **Helen Karu**. Development of ecosystems under human activity in the North-East Estonian industrial region: forests on post-mining sites and bogs. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 276. **Hedi Peterson**. Exploiting high-throughput data for establishing relationships between genes. Tartu, 2015, 186 p.
- 277. **Priit Adler**. Analysis and visualisation of large scale microarray data, Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 278. Aigar Niglas. Effects of environmental factors on gas exchange in deciduous trees: focus on photosynthetic water-use efficiency. Tartu, 2015, 152 p.
- 279. Silja Laht. Classification and identification of conopeptides using profile hidden Markov models and position-specific scoring matrices. Tartu, 2015, 100 p.
- 280. Martin Kesler. Biological characteristics and restoration of Atlantic salmon *Salmo salar* populations in the Rivers of Northern Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 281. **Pratyush Kumar Das**. Biochemical perspective on alphaviral nonstructural protein 2: a tale from multiple domains to enzymatic profiling. Tartu, 2015, 205 p

- 282. **Priit Palta**. Computational methods for DNA copy number detection. Tartu, 2015, 130 p.
- 283. Julia Sidorenko. Combating DNA damage and maintenance of genome integrity in pseudomonads. Tartu, 2015, 174 p.
- 284. Anastasiia Kovtun-Kante. Charophytes of Estonian inland and coastal waters: distribution and environmental preferences. Tartu, 2015, 97 p.
- 285. Ly Lindman. The ecology of protected butterfly species in Estonia. Tartu, 2015, 171 p.
- 286. **Jaanis Lodjak**. Association of Insulin-like Growth Factor I and Corticosterone with Nestling Growth and Fledging Success in Wild Passerines. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 287. Ann Kraut. Conservation of Wood-Inhabiting Biodiversity Semi-Natural Forests as an Opportunity. Tartu, 2016, 141 p.
- 288. **Tiit Örd**. Functions and regulation of the mammalian pseudokinase TRIB3. Tartu, 2016, 182. p.
- 289. **Kairi Käiro**. Biological Quality According to Macroinvertebrates in Streams of Estonia (Baltic Ecoregion of Europe): Effects of Human-induced Hydromorphological Changes. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 290. Leidi Laurimaa. *Echinococcus multilocularis* and other zoonotic parasites in Estonian canids. Tartu, 2016, 144 p.
- 291. Helerin Margus. Characterization of cell-penetrating peptide/nucleic acid nanocomplexes and their cell-entry mechanisms. Tartu, 2016, 173 p.
- 292. **Kadri Runnel**. Fungal targets and tools for forest conservation. Tartu, 2016, 157 p.
- 293. Urmo Võsa. MicroRNAs in disease and health: aberrant regulation in lung cancer and association with genomic variation. Tartu, 2016, 163 p.
- 294. Kristina Mäemets-Allas. Studies on cell growth promoting AKT signaling pathway – a promising anti-cancer drug target. Tartu, 2016, 146 p.
- 295. **Janeli Viil**. Studies on cellular and molecular mechanisms that drive normal and regenerative processes in the liver and pathological processes in Dupuytren's contracture. Tartu, 2016, 175 p.
- 296. Ene Kook. Genetic diversity and evolution of *Pulmonaria angustifolia* L. and *Myosotis laxa sensu lato* (Boraginaceae). Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 297. Kadri Peil. RNA polymerase II-dependent transcription elongation in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2016, 113 p.
- 298. **Katrin Ruisu**. The role of RIC8A in mouse development and its function in cell-matrix adhesion and actin cytoskeletal organisation. Tartu, 2016, 129 p.
- 299. **Janely Pae**. Translocation of cell-penetrating peptides across biological membranes and interactions with plasma membrane constituents. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 300. Argo Ronk. Plant diversity patterns across Europe: observed and dark diversity. Tartu, 2016, 153 p.

- 301. **Kristiina Mark**. Diversification and species delimitation of lichenized fungi in selected groups of the family Parmeliaceae (Ascomycota). Tartu, 2016, 181 p.
- 302. Jaak-Albert Metsoja. Vegetation dynamics in floodplain meadows: influence of mowing and sediment application. Tartu, 2016, 140 p.
- 303. **Hedvig Tamman**. The GraTA toxin-antitoxin system of *Pseudomonas putida*: regulation and role in stress tolerance. Tartu, 2016, 154 p.
- 304. **Kadri Pärtel**. Application of ultrastructural and molecular data in the taxonomy of helotialean fungi. Tartu, 2016, 183 p.
- 305. **Maris Hindrikson**. Grey wolf (*Canis lupus*) populations in Estonia and Europe: genetic diversity, population structure and -processes, and hybridization between wolves and dogs. Tartu, 2016, 121 p.
- 306. **Polina Degtjarenko**. Impacts of alkaline dust pollution on biodiversity of plants and lichens: from communities to genetic diversity. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 307. Liina Pajusalu. The effect of CO₂ enrichment on net photosynthesis of macrophytes in a brackish water environment. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 308. Stoyan Tankov. Random walks in the stringent response. Tartu, 2016, 94 p.
- 309. Liis Leitsalu. Communicating genomic research results to populationbased biobank participants. Tartu, 2016, 158 p.
- 310. **Richard Meitern**. Redox physiology of wild birds: validation and application of techniques for detecting oxidative stress. Tartu, 2016, 134 p.
- 311. Kaie Lokk. Comparative genome-wide DNA methylation studies of healthy human tissues and non-small cell lung cancer tissue. Tartu, 2016, 127 p.
- 312. Mihhail Kurašin. Processivity of cellulases and chitinases. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 313. Carmen Tali. Scavenger receptors as a target for nucleic acid delivery with peptide vectors. Tartu, 2017, 155 p.
- 314. **Katarina Oganjan**. Distribution, feeding and habitat of benthic suspension feeders in a shallow coastal sea. Tartu, 2017, 132 p.
- 315. **Taavi Paal**. Immigration limitation of forest plants into wooded landscape corridors. Tartu, 2017, 145 p.
- 316. **Kadri Õunap**. The Williams-Beuren syndrome chromosome region protein WBSCR22 is a ribosome biogenesis factor. Tartu, 2017, 135 p.
- 317. **Riin Tamm**. In-depth analysis of factors affecting variability in thiopurine methyltransferase activity. Tartu, 2017, 170 p.
- 318. Keiu Kask. The role of RIC8A in the development and regulation of mouse nervous system. Tartu, 2017, 184 p.
- 319. **Tiia Möller**. Mapping and modelling of the spatial distribution of benthic macrovegetation in the NE Baltic Sea with a special focus on the eelgrass *Zostera marina* Linnaeus, 1753. Tartu, 2017, 162 p.
- 320. Silva Kasela. Genetic regulation of gene expression: detection of tissueand cell type-specific effects. Tartu, 2017, 150 p.

- 321. **Karmen Süld**. Food habits, parasites and space use of the raccoon dog *Nyctereutes procyonoides*: the role of an alien species as a predator and vector of zoonotic diseases in Estonia. Tartu, 2017, p.
- 322. **Ragne Oja**. Consequences of supplementary feeding of wild boar concern for ground-nesting birds and endoparasite infection. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 323. **Riin Kont**. The acquisition of cellulose chain by a processive cellobiohydrolase. Tartu, 2017, 117 p.
- 324. Liis Kasari. Plant diversity of semi-natural grasslands: drivers, current status and conservation challenges. Tartu, 2017, 141 p.
- 325. Sirgi Saar. Belowground interactions: the roles of plant genetic relatedness, root exudation and soil legacies. Tartu, 2017, 113 p.
- 326. **Sten Anslan**. Molecular identification of Collembola and their fungal associates. Tartu, 2017, 125 p.
- 327. **Imre Taal**. Causes of variation in littoral fish communities of the Eastern Baltic Sea: from community structure to individual life histories. Tartu, 2017, 118 p.
- 328. Jürgen Jalak. Dissecting the Mechanism of Enzymatic Degradation of Cellulose Using Low Molecular Weight Model Substrates. Tartu, 2017, 137 p.
- 329. Kairi Kiik. Reproduction and behaviour of the endangered European mink (*Mustela lutreola*) in captivity. Tartu, 2018, 112 p.
- 330. **Ivan Kuprijanov**. Habitat use and trophic interactions of native and invasive predatory macroinvertebrates in the northern Baltic Sea. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 331. **Hendrik Meister**. Evolutionary ecology of insect growth: from geographic patterns to biochemical trade-offs. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 332. **Ilja Gaidutšik.** Irc3 is a mitochondrial branch migration enzyme in *Saccharomyces cerevisiae*. Tartu, 2018, 161 p.
- 333. Lena Neuenkamp. The dynamics of plant and arbuscular mycorrhizal fungal communities in grasslands under changing land use. Tartu, 2018, 241 p.
- 334. Laura Kasak. Genome structural variation modulating the placenta and pregnancy maintenance. Tartu, 2018, 181 p.
- 335. Kersti Riibak. Importance of dispersal limitation in determining dark diversity of plants across spatial scales. Tartu, 2018, 133 p.
- 336. Liina Saar. Dynamics of grassland plant diversity in changing landscapes. Tartu, 2018, 206 p.
- 337. Hanna Ainelo. Fis regulates *Pseudomonas putida* biofilm formation by controlling the expression of *lapA*. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 338. **Natalia Pervjakova.** Genomic imprinting in complex traits. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 339. Andrio Lahesaare. The role of global regulator Fis in regulating the expression of *lapF* and the hydrophobicity of soil bacterium *Pseudomonas putida*. Tartu, 2018, 124 p.

- 340. **Märt Roosaare.** *K*-mer based methods for the identification of bacteria and plasmids. Tartu, 2018, 117 p.
- 341. **Maria Abakumova.** The relationship between competitive behaviour and the frequency and identity of neighbours in temperate grassland plants. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 342. Margus Vilbas. Biotic interactions affecting habitat use of myrmecophilous butterflies in Northern Europe. Tartu, 2018, 142 p.
- 343. Liina Kinkar. Global patterns of genetic diversity and phylogeography of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu stricto – a tapeworm species of significant public health concern. Tartu, 2018, 147 p.
- 344. **Teivi Laurimäe.** Taxonomy and genetic diversity of zoonotic tapeworms in the species complex of *Echinococcus granulosus* sensu lato. Tartu, 2018, 143 p.
- 345. **Tatjana Jatsenko.** Role of translesion DNA polymerases in mutagenesis and DNA damage tolerance in Pseudomonads. Tartu, 2018, 216 p.